
Date Published: 16 July 2019                                                                                               

Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board

Tuesday 23 July 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  Apologies for absence Andrea Clarke

2  Declarations of interest 

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

3  Minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 1 - 4) Andrea Clarke

4  Public Questions 

To answer any written questions about matters which are within the powers 
and duties of the Board.

The closing date/time for receipt of written questions is 10.00am on 16 July 
2019. Please send questions to the Chief Executive marked for the 
attention of Andrea Clarke (email: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk).
 

Chairman

5  Members' Questions 

To answer any written members’ questions about matters which are within 
the powers and duties of the Board. The closing date/time for the receipt of 
questions is 10.00am on 16 July 2019. Please send questions to the Chief 
Executive marked for the attention of Andrea Clarke (email: 
andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk). 

Chairman

6  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (Pages 5 - 24) Sarah Scott

7  One Gloucestershire Way (Pages 25 - 32) Mary Hutton, 
ACC Julian 
Moss, Sarah 
Scott

mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

8  Safer Gloucestershire Community Safety Strategy 2019 - 2022 (Pages 
33 - 58)

Chris Brierley

9  Children's Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Child Friendly 
Gloucestershire Proposal (Pages 59 - 68)

Chris Spencer
Dame Janet 
Trotter

10  Health and Wellbeing Board Membership (Pages 69 - 74) Sarah Scott

INFORMATION ITEM

11  New Strategies and Plans 

The Director of Public Health to give a verbal update on current work.

Sarah Scott

Membership – Ingrid Barker (Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust and 2Gether NHS 
Foundation Trust), Wayne Bowcock (Chief Fire Officer), Chris Brierley (Representing Police and 
Crime Commissioner), Mary Hutton (Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), 
Peter Lachecki (Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust), Bob Lloyd-Smith (Healthwatch 
Gloucestershire), ACC Julian Moss (Representing Chief Constable), Rachel Pearce (NHS 
England), Pat Pratley (District Chief Executive (Housing Link)), Dr Hein Le Roux (Gloucestershire 
Clinical Commissioning Group), Sarah Scott (Director of Public Health), Dr Andy Seymour 
(Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group), Chris Spencer (Director of Children's Services), 
Cllr Jennie Watkins (District Representative) and Margaret Willcox OBE (Director of Adult Services) 
Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Kathy Williams and Cllr Roger Wilson (Chairman)

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Please declare any disclosable pecuniary interests or 
personal interests that you may have relating to specific matters which may be discussed 
at this meeting, by signing the form that will be available in the Cabinet Suite.  Completing 
this list is acceptable as a declaration, but does not, of course, prevent members from 
declaring an interest orally in relation to individual agenda items.  The list will be available 
for public inspection.

Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to make a declaration of interest 
are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns Tel: 01452 328472 /fax: 01452 
425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect Minutes or 
Reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact:
Andrea Clarke, Senior Democratic Services Adviser
:01452 324203/e-mail: andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

(c) GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (tel 01452 324203) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:andrea.clarke@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting. 

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point. Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

GLOUCESTERSHIRE HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD
MINUTES of a meeting of the Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday 14 May 
2019 at the Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT:
Ingrid Barker
Cllr Richard Boyles
Cllr Tim Harman
Mary Hutton
Peter Lachecki
Bob Lloyd-Smith
ACC Julian Moss
Pat Pratley

Dr Hein Le Roux
Sarah Scott
Dr Andy Seymour (Vice-Chairman)
Chris Spencer
Cllr Jennie Watkins
Margaret Willcox OBE
Cllr Kathy Williams
Cllr Roger Wilson (Chairman)

Officers in attendance: Zoe Clifford - Consultant in Public Health
Dave McConalogue - Consultant in Public Health
Emma Savage - Associate Director Self Care, Prevention and 
Diabetes (GCCG),
Philip Williams - Lead Commissioner Community Infrastructure

Apologies: Chris Brierley

11. ELECTION OF CHAIRPERSON 
Cllr Roger Wilson was elected Chairperson for the council year 2018/2019.

12. ELECTION OF VICE CHAIRPERSON 
Dr Andy Seymour was elected Vice Chairperson for the council year 2018/2019.

13. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
No declarations of interest were received.

14. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
14.1 The minutes of the meeting on Tuesday 19 March 2019 were agreed as a correct record 

and signed by the Chairman.

14.2 The Board was updated on the actions from the meeting on 19 March 2019:-
The County Strategic Directors Group was due to meet on 28 May 2019 to discuss housing 
issues within the context of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

14.3 Bob Lloyd Smith, Healthwatch Gloucestershire, updated the Board on the level of 
engagement achieved through the ‘Campervan and Comments Tour 2019’. HWG was in 
the process of analysing this feedback, as well as the responses to the national 
Healthwatch England survey and Mental Health survey undertaken earlier this year. He 
expected that this analysis would be available by the next Board meeting. 

14.4 Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services, updated the Board on the actions taken 
forward by the Director of Partnerships and Strategy, following the meeting on 19 March 
2019. He explained that the Safer Gloucestershire partnership has agreed the Safer 
Gloucestershire Strategy but has not yet agreed on a consultation exercise. The Children’s 
Partnership Framework was being taken forward by the Director of Partnerships and 
Strategy and the Accountable Officer, Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group 

Page 1

Agenda Item 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

(GCCG). The Early Years Service was within the remit of the Director of Education and 
was a successful service. The Board was also informed that the council has received over 
three quarters of a million pounds from the Department of Education to improve speech, 
language and communication skills in young children before they start school. 

15. PUBLIC QUESTIONS 
No public questions were received.

16. MEMBERS' QUESTIONS 
No member’s questions were received.

17. SOCIAL ISOLATION DEEP DIVE 
17.1 Emma Savage, Associate Director Self Care, Prevention and Diabetes (GCCG), gave a 

detailed presentation of her report. This discussed how the research had been undertaken 
and the main findings of the deep dive so far. The report included case studies illustrating 
how small changes could make a significant impact on the individual. 

17.2 The Board welcomed this work. This was a significant matter and how to alleviate the 
factors involved in social isolation was something that the Board wanted to give its full 
support to. It was clear that there were a number of initiatives already in place that were 
effective, in particular the community building work in Barton and Tredworth and the inter-
generational projects. It was good to see that some private companies were making 
volunteering opportunities available to their staff. 

17.3 The debate identified that access to education and work were significant factors in social 
isolation. How to engage with people who needed this type of support was important. It was 
agreed that it would be beneficial if this work were to be linked into/connected with the 
developing spatial planning strategies being developed as part of the 2050 vision for 
Gloucestershire.

17.4 The Director of Children’s Services (DCS) informed the Board that the care leaver cohort of 
young people were particularly vulnerable with regard to social isolation, and that we 
should be doing more to support them. Linked into this was the lack of purposeful activity 
available to children and young people; the DCS stated that this was a real issue for the 
county. 

17.5 It was felt that there was a role for the parish and town councils in this work given their 
knowledge of their ‘patch’. 

17.6 It was commented that the inter-generational work could be really effective with regard to 
supporting the Cyber agenda. 

17.7 The Director of Public Health (DPH) stated that in taking this work forward it would not be 
about creating strategy upon strategy. An action plan would be developed over time so that 
it was clear to people what was being done to address the issues around social isolation. It 
was agreed that it would be beneficial to this work if Board members were to champion 
individual priorities/areas. 

17.8 It was agreed that this work would be brought back to a future Board meeting (September 
2019).

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

18. JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY 
18.1 Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health, presented the draft Joint Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy (JHWBS) which had been amended in line with the outcome of the discussion at 
the Board’s development session on 22 January 2019.  

18.2 The majority of Board members agreed that the draft strategy was in a good place to go out 
for consultation. There was some disappointment that Alcohol was not included in the 
JHWBS as a priority. It was acknowledged that this issue fell within the purview of the Safer 
Gloucestershire partnership, but it was felt that it should be referenced (along with 
Domestic Abuse). It was agreed that it would be important for the Board to have sight of the 
Safer Gloucestershire strategy to ensure that shared priorities were appropriately actioned. 
This strategy would be received by the Board at its meeting on 23 July 2019. It was also 
suggested that it would be beneficial if the Board was to hold some joint meetings with the 
Safer Gloucestershire partnership to ensure that there was closer connectivity across the 
system. 

18.3 Board members were aware that a discussion was ongoing as to what a ‘Wigan Deal’ 
would look like for Gloucestershire. It was agreed that it would be helpful if this was brought 
to the 23 July 2019 Board meeting along with the JHWBS. The Board would agree at that 
time whether to submit the JHWBS for consultation.

18.4 It was noted that a meeting was to be held on 26 June 2019 to discuss the Wigan Deal for 
Gloucestershire. It was agreed that given the important role of the district councils in 
delivering a place based approach that a district council representative should attend this 
meeting. (Post meeting note: The Head of Communities, Gloucester City, would attend the 
meeting.)

18.5 It was noted that a strategic lead was still required for two of the priorities. Dr Andy 
Seymour, Clinical Chair Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, agreed to lead the 
Physical Activity priority. This left the Mental Wellbeing without a strategic lead; the Board 
would need to ensure that this position was taken up in the longer term.

19. AIR QUALITY STRATEGY 
19.1 Dave McConalogue, Consultant in Public Health, and Philip Williams, Lead Commissioner 

Community Infrastructure, brought the Board up to date with progress of the Air Quality and 
Health Strategy. 

19.2 The Board agreed that this work was not just about specific projects but about making sure 
that decisions made were not having a wider negative impact. It was also agreed that there 
was still much to do to encourage people to reduce their carbon footprint. Everyone has a 
role to play in this agenda. 

19.3 The Chairman challenged all Board members to consider what their organisations could do 
to support this agenda. The Board would recive a further report on this matter in six months 
and Board members would be asked at that time what actions they have taken in support 
of this agenda. 

19.4 The Board agreed to approve the strategy for implementation through the Gloucestershire 
Air Quality and Health Partnership Group.

20. NEW STRATEGIES AND PLANS 
20.1 The Board would receive the Safer Gloucestershire Strategy at its meeting on 23 July 

2019.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

20.2 The Director of Public Health informed the Board that the Gloucestershire Sufficiency 
Strategy (Right Place, First Time) had recently been launched. The Cabinet had agreed (24 
April 2019) a proposal to redevelop Trevone House, Gloucester, to support a sufficiency of 
placements for children in the care of Gloucestershire County Council.

20.3 The Local Industrial Strategy was in development led by Gloucestershire LEP. A call for 
evidence was currently in place. This overlapped with a lot of the work that the Board was 
doing, eg. the ageing society, green growth. The DPH informed the Board that this strategy 
included a theme on inclusive growth; this would also be the theme of the Annual Report of 
the DPH.

CHAIRMAN

Meeting concluded at 12.00 pm

Page 4



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  
Attached is the designed version of the draft Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. It is 
proposed that there will also be a shorter, plain English version produced alongside 
this full length strategy.

Following the strategy, position statements will be developed for each priority,
providing more detail about delivery, monitoring and evaluation.

Recommendations to Board: 

Agree for the draft strategy to be circulated for consultation. 

Financial/Resource Implications: 

None identified

Page 5

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2019 - 2030

Page 7



awaiting text - Gloucestershire 
deal

Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 20302 3

Gloucestershire Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy
2019 - 2030

P
age 8



Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 20304 5

Foreword
Under the Health and Social Care Act 2012, Health and Wellbeing Boards have a 
statutory duty to develop a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. It requires the Local 
Authority and Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to work together to understand  
the health and wellbeing needs of their local community, and agree joint priorities  
for addressing these needs to improve health and wellbeing outcomes and  
reduce inequalities. 

Gloucestershire is generally a healthy county, but that does not mean we should be 
complacent and there is a great deal of variation across the county. We know that not 
everyone experiences good health and wellbeing and this is influenced by a wide range of 
factors. Evidence suggest that as little as 10% of someone’s health and wellbeing is linked 
to health care – it’s our environment, jobs, food, transport, houses, education and our 
friends, families and local communities that affect our health and wellbeing most. 

This Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy provides an excellent opportunity to focus on 
those areas where a collective, system wide approach can help to improve the health and 
wellbeing of the population of Gloucestershire. 

We recognise the significant work that is going on across our districts and networks, and 
across the range of organisations that operate within them, to maintain and improve the 
health and wellbeing of our populations. We also acknowledge the considerable work 
that is being carried out in partnership across the county of Gloucestershire, with many 
strategies and programmes driving this work forward. We look to build on that work 
through the systems leadership of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

The strategy is not about taking action on everything at once, but about setting priorities 
for joint action and making a real impact on people’s lives. It provides a focus and vision 
from which to plan ahead for the next ten years. 
 

Cllr Roger Wilson 
Chair of Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning

Contents
Foreword 5

Introduction 6

Vision 8

A whole system leadership approach 10

Developing the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 11

Our vision 12

Our priorities 13

Understanding the priorities 14

 Physical activity 14

 Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs) 16

 Mental wellbeing 18

 Social isolation and loneliness 20

 Healthy lifestyles 23

 Early years and best start in life 25

 Housing 28

Our approach to delivering the strategy 30

Delivering priorities 32

Measuring success 33

P
age 9



Introduction
Our population in Gloucestershire was estimated to be around 
628,139 in 2017, representing a rise of approximately 5,045 people 
since 2016. 

The health of people in the county is generally better than the England 
average. Gloucestershire is one of the 20% least deprived local authorities 
areas in England. However about 12% (13,100) of children live in low 

income families. Life expectancy for both men and women is 
higher than the England average.

Notably, good health and wellbeing is not evenly 
distributed across the county and pockets of 
deprivation do exist particularly in the main 
urban areas and in some of the market towns. 
Life expectancy is 8.1 years lower for men and 5.3 
years lower for women in the most deprived areas of 

Gloucestershire than in the least deprived areas.

There was considerable variation in age structure at district 
level. The proportion of 0-19 year olds is highest in Gloucester and 

exceeds the national figure for this age group. The proportion of 20-64 year 
olds is highest in Cheltenham and Gloucester. The Cotswolds, Forest of Dean, Stroud and 
Tewkesbury all have a higher proportion of people aged 65 and over when compared with 
the national figure.

Children from poorer backgrounds are more at risk of poorer health 
outcomes. The level of child poverty is better than the England 

average with 14.4% of children aged under 16 years 
living in poverty. 

With a large rural geography, transport is 
a vital factor in accessing services. 40,000 
households in Gloucestershire do not 

own a car or van, making public transport 
essential to accessing public services. 

Gloucestershire’s Accessibility 
Matrix shows that in 24 

Lower Super Output Areas * 
it is at least a 45 minute walk or public 
transport journey to a GP.

1

Housing is 
unaffordable 
for those on 
low incomes

The
population 
growth is

fastest in the
65 and over

age category

Housing is unaffordable for those on low incomes in the 
county with the ratio of house prices to wages being higher 
in each of the districts compared with the national average, 
except for Gloucester. 

Gloucestershire’s first Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 
Fit for the Future, was published in 2013. It focused on five 
objectives with a plan for each in the form of action cards. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board has evolved considerably 
since then. It has undertaken a series of development 

sessions and formed new ways of working. This 
has been tested through two key areas; our 

work on self harm and Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs). 

The Local Government Association 
Prevention System Peer Challenge 
in February 2018 made nine key 

recommendations. Alongside the need to refresh the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy with greater community input, the 

recommendations also included the need to set out a fuller vision 
for health and wellbeing; define ‘prevention’ clearly; include the wider 
determinants of health, and make greater use of the voluntary and 
community sector to provide community insight. 

This strategy articulates the Health and Wellbeing Board’s response to the Prevention 
System Peer Challenge and sets out a clear vision and priorities. 

This strategy has clear links with the approach of the Safer Gloucestershire strategy. 
Safer Gloucestershire aims to ensure a coherent, strategic approach to the delivery of 
community safety activity in Gloucestershire. Together with this Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy this provides a county wide framework for achieving the Vision 2050 ambition of 
a ‘happy, healthy and safe’ Gloucestershire.

A happy, healthy and safe Gloucestershire

40,000 
households in 

Gloucestershire 
do not own a car 

or van

The
level of child 

poverty is
better than
the England 

average

The  
proportion 

of 0-19 
year olds is 
highest in 
Gloucester

Health is 
generally 

better than 
the England 

average

Life  
 expectancy 

is lower in the 
most deprived 

areas

Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 20306 7

More than  
one in every 10 
Gloucestershire 
children is living 

in poverty

5.3
years 
lower

8.1
years 
lower

* A small geographical area used for 
reporting statistics. There are 373 lower 
super output areas in Gloucestershire.

P
age 10



Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 20308 9

Ways of Working 
•	 A	systems	leader
•	 Prevention	focused
•	 Collaborative	and	community	centred
•	 Holistic
•	 Equally	valuing	physical	and	mental	health
•	 Tackling	health	inequalities	
•	 Addressing	the	wider	determinants	of	

health	and	wellbeing	
•	 Recognising	where	we	add	value

Vision
Gloucestershire is a place 

where everyone can
live well, be healthy

and thrive

Tackling health inequalities

Physical 
activity

Adverse 
childhood 

experiences 
(ACEs)

Mental 
wellbeing

Social 
isolation and 

loneliness

Early 
years and 
best start 
in life

Housing

We want to make being physically active 
the social norm, and get 30,000 inactive 
people in Gloucestershire active.

We want to build communities 
and organisations that take 
action to prevent the potential 
lifelong impacts of adverse 
childhood experiences. 

We want every Gloucestershire 
resident to enjoy the best 
possible mental health and 
wellbeing throughout their life.

We want to enable local people 
to build and nurture strong 
social networks and vibrant 
communities.

We will aim to halve the level of 
childhood obesity in Gloucestershire 
and reduce the gap in obesity rates 
between the most and least deprived 
parts of the country.

We want to ensure 
that every child in 
Gloucestershire has the 
best start in life.

We want to improve the 
quality, affordability, 
availability and 
suitability of housing. 

Key Partnerships
A	wide	range	of	partnerships	will	determine	
the	success	of	this	strategy.	This	includes,	
but	are	not	limited	to:
•	 Gloucestershire	Moves	(Physical	activity)
•	 ACEs	Panel	(ACEs)
•	 Mental	Health	&	Wellbeing	Partnership	

Board	(Mental	wellbeing)
•	 Enabling	Active	Communities	(Social	

isolation	and	loneliness)
•	 Healthy	Weight	Programme	Board	

(Healthy	lifestyles)

Priorities

W
here do w

e w
ant to be?

Healthy 
lifestyles

Health inequalities are the preventable, unfair 
and unjust differences in people’s health. For 
each of the priorities we will focus on how we 
close this gap.

P
age 11



Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203010 11

A whole system leadership 
approach 
Health and wellbeing depend on a complex interplay of factors. There is no single 
intervention or single organisation that in isolation can guarantee good population health 
and wellbeing. Our system to support health and wellbeing is complex. Therefore we 
need an approach which recognises this complexity and seeks to influence across the 
whole system.

Crucially, it recognises the priorities and work of the other system ‘players’. Working 
together enables the system to move forward together rather than separately and create 
more impactful change.

Vision 2050
The intention of Gloucestershire Vision 2050 is to set ideas that collectively can transform 
the county for tomorrow while embracing, retaining, and nurturing the values and assets 
that are the central strengths of Gloucestershire today. It sets out ambitions for achieving 
this. One of the ambitions is:

“A healthy, happy and safe county: we will ensure people have a good work/life balance 
and see improved health and wellbeing.”

This Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy provides a clear mechanism for being able to 
deliver the ‘healthy, happy’ element. 

Integrated Care System and the NHS Long-Term Plan 
In 2016, NHS organisations and local councils came together to form 44 Sustainability 
and Transformation Partnerships (STPs) covering the whole of England, and set out their 
proposals to improve health and care for patients. Gloucestershire has evolved to form an 
Integrated Care System (ICS), a new type of even closer collaboration. In an integrated 
care system, NHS organisations, in partnership with local councils and others, take 
collective responsibility for managing resources, delivering NHS standards, and improving 
the health of the population they serve. 

The NHS Long-Term Plan sets out key ambitions for the service 
over the next 10 years. The plan signals a clear focus on prevention, 
recognising that the NHS can take important action to complement 
the role of local authorities and the contribution of government, 
communities, industry and individuals. The plan includes the 
commitment to a renewed NHS prevention programme. The 
Integrated Care System will have a key role in helping 
to deliver this.

The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy  
and Prevention and Inequalities Framework 
under the Integrated Care System and 
response to the NHS Long-Term Plan  
are intrinsically linked.

2 Developing the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy
This strategy has been developed through the Health and Wellbeing Board engaging with 
wider stakeholders, including our communities. 

Engaging communities 
Engaging with the public and listening to their views about health and wellbeing has been 
an essential part of developing the strategy. There have been four main stages to this.

Stage 1: Understanding the landscape 

There has been a wealth of previous engagement and consultation about health and 
wellbeing with various populations within Gloucestershire. Findings from a wide range of 
these were assessed to help build an understanding about what people have already told 
us. Mental health, loneliness and social and community connections were key themes. 

Stage 2: Informing the priority setting

Through workshops and structured interviews, we encouraged residents to consider their 
top three priorities in maintaining positive health and wellbeing. This helped to inform the 
priority setting process. 

Stage 3: Developing a better understanding of the priorities

This was an opportunity to feed back to communities the priorities that had been chosen 
and start to understand some more detail about how they viewed these priorities. This 
gave us better insight into what people view are the strengths and opportunities around 
the priorities and some examples of positive practice. 

Stage 4: Have we got it right?

This final stage involves the more traditional consultation stage for the strategy. It gives 
us the chance to check that the strategy reflects what we have heard throughout the 
engagement. 

Priority setting process
The community and wider stakeholder engagement helped to form a list of eleven potential 
themes for the Health and Wellbeing Board to then prioritise. In addition to these, ‘adverse 
childhood experiences (ACEs)’ and ‘early years’ were added to the list since ACEs is an 
area in which the Board have recently taken a leadership role in and early years was a 
cross cutting theme running through many of the community engagement workshops.

The Health and Wellbeing Board went through a process of prioritisation taking into 
account need, impact, effectiveness, inequalities and acceptability. As part of the 
‘acceptability’ criteria, the community and other stakeholder feedback was taken into 
account as well as a consideration of where the Health and Wellbeing Board could add 
value. These acceptability considerations carried a heavy weighting in the priority setting 
process.

3

P
age 12



Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203012

Our vision4 Our priorities
We have seven Health and Wellbeing Board priorities. 
 
• Physical activity
• Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs)
• Mental wellbeing
• Social isolation and loneliness
• Healthy lifestyles
• Early years and best start in life
• Housing
 

Tackling social isolation and loneliness is a 
shared priority between the Health and Wellbeing Board and Safer Gloucestershire. 

Each of the seven priorities is at a different stage of development. It is important that the 
emphasis is maintained on where the Health and Wellbeing Board can truly add value. 
The focus needs to be on what it is we can only tackle in partnership.

It is important to recognise the need for local areas to be able to adopt bespoke 
approaches to how they approach the seven priorities. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board will maintain a watching brief over a wider health 
and wellbeing agenda. Furthermore, it will develop a position statement on economic 
development and transport to recognise the importance of these to health and wellbeing. 

Transport
40,000 households in Gloucestershire do not own a car or van, making public transport 
essential to accessing public services. The 2017 Community Survey linked transport and 
loneliness. Respondents who have a car as their main form of transport were the least 
likely key group to feel lonely. Consideration to this will be linked to the work on the social 
isolation and loneliness priority. The Health and Wellbeing Board will develop a position 
statement on transport and health identifying key systems levers. 

Economic development
Economic prosperity (including educational attainment, employment and financial security) 
and its health benefits are well understood. Figures from the ONS covering July 2017 to 
June 2018 state that 8,700 people (2.6%) are unemployed in Gloucestershire. 62,000 
(16.4%) are economically inactive, including students, retired, those looking after a home, 
and the temporary and long-term sick; though 20.4% of this group would like a job.

There is the opportunity for the Health and Wellbeing Board to link with the development 
of the Local Industrial Strategy to identify key objectives that overlap with economic 
development and health. Again, the Health and Wellbeing Board will develop a position 
statement for this area.

5

13

‘Gloucestershire is a 
place where everyone 
can live well, be 
healthy and thrive’

P
age 13



Understanding the priorities

Priority 1: Physical activity
Increasing physical activity has the potential to improve the physical and 

mental health and wellbeing of individuals, families, communities and 
the county as a whole. 

Physical inactivity is the fourth leading risk factor for global 
mortality accounting for 6% of deaths globally. People who 
have a physically active lifestyle have a 20-35% lower risk of 
cardiovascular disease, coronary heart disease and stroke 
compared to those who have a sedentary lifestyle. 

Regular physical activity is also associated  
with a reduced risk of diabetes, obesity, 

osteoporosis and colon/breast cancer, and 
with improved mental health. 

Where are we now?
• People in the UK are around 20% less active now than in 

the 1960s. If current trends continue, we will be 35% less 
active by 2030.

• Nearly one in five adults in Gloucestershire are inactive 
(less than 30 minutes of activity a week). 

Where do we want to be?
• The national recommendation is for adults to aim to take part in at least 150 minutes of 

moderate intensity physical activity each week, in bouts of 10 minutes or more.

• Moderate intensity physical activities, such as brisk walking 
or cycling, cause adults to get warmer and breathe harder 
and their hearts to beat faster, but they can still carry on a 
conversation.

• We want to get 30,000 inactive people in Gloucestershire 
active and to make being physically active the social norm. 

How will we get there?
• For every individual the specific opportunities and barriers to 

being more active will vary.

• A traditional delivery model with specific interventions to get 
people active is highly unlikely to have a lasting impact on behaviour 
on its own.

• Using a whole system, behaviour-change approach to get the least active people in the 
county moving. 

6 • This will be delivered through Gloucestershire Moves which is facilitated by Active 
Gloucestershire and has been developed through extensive research and consultation. 

• Using a theory of change that suggests being active over a sustained period requires a 
shift in underlying behaviours and attitudes of individuals. 

• The approach recognises that many factors influence attitudes and behaviours. For 
example the personal (e.g. self-confidence, experience, the social norms within an 
individual’s family, friends and close community), infrastructure (e.g. existence and 
maintenance of cycle lanes, sports facilities, clubs) and education (e.g. understanding of 
what’s involved) - collectively a set of interlocking ‘systems’. 

How will this be delivered and monitored?

The Gloucestershire Moves steering group provides the strategic direction, monitoring and 
evaluation for delivering this approach to improving physical activity and will report to the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.

Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203014 15

Spotlight on:
How the system works 

together at a local 
level to deliver change 

in level of physical 
activity

Current 
trends show 
we will be 
35% less 
active by 
2030

People are 
20% less 
active today 
than in the 
1960s

Nearly
1 in 5 adults in 

Gloucestershire 
do less than 30 

minutes of activity 
a week

Under Gloucestershire Moves, one of the campaigns is 
to prevent falls in older adults. The campaign focuses on 
behaviour intervention (strength and balance exercises). 
It first involved understanding the impact of current falls 
prevention interventions. Over 20 stakeholders and 100 

older adults in the county were contacted as part of the 
research. The findings highlighted the lack of awareness of 

risk factors, difficulties accessing interventions and a need for 
simplified health style messages that were relatable. 

The findings also amplified the need for a social movement due to 
the importance of peer to peer influence - a network of people who 
will spread guidance and motivate people to either start strength and 
balance exercises at home or join a class. Gloucestershire Moves have 
embarked on a programme of recruiting this network through existing 
community groups, coffee mornings and lunch clubs, who will promote 
the exercises and distribute the material. 

The marketing campaign was tested with a network of stakeholders 
including older adults in the community, professionals, as well as 
local governing bodies. The final version of the campaign will be 
promoted through Gloucestershire Moves’ partnership with the Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), Gloucestershire County Council, and 
community networks. It is anticipated to reach 175 groups locally and 
85,000 people over the age of 65. 

P
age 14



Priority 2: Adverse childhood experiences (ACEs)
ACEs are specified traumatic events occurring before the age of 18 years. High or 
frequent exposure to ACEs, without the support of a trusted adult can lead to toxic stress. 
There is a large body of evidence that shows the adversity we experience as children can 
affect us into adulthood. 

What are ACEs?
Developing resilience through access to a trusted adult in 
childhood, supportive friends, positive attachments and 

being engaged in community activities has 
been shown to improve outcomes 

even in those who experience high 
levels of ACEs. This relies on 

active, thriving, and resilient 
communities.

Where are we now?
ACEs are prevalent across the 

population and recent studies 
have shown that nearly half of 

people in England experience 
at least one ACE, with around 9% 

experiencing four or more ACEs.

Where do we want to be?
Our vision is a resilient Gloucestershire where 
communities and organisations are 
acting on ACEs. We want to 
build communities and 
organisations that are aware 
of, able to talk about and 
take action on ACEs. We 
will build a social movement 
that recognises the potential 
lifelong impacts of adversity in 
childhood and takes action to 
stop childhood harm. 

How will we get there?
We will deliver this through the Gloucestershire ACEs 
Strategy. The concept of ‘viral change’ has been used 
to establish a network of ACEs Ambassadors, thus 
effectively mobilising people across the county to 
implement the ACEs Strategy. 

Our strategic objectives are to: 
• Raise awareness and understanding of ACEs with communities and organisations through 

delivery of a co-ordinated local campaign.

• Implement training to equip communities and organisations to respond appropriately  
to ACEs.

• Continue our partnership work with communities and organisations to build resilience 
through encouraging trusted relationships and developing core life skills.

• Develop relevant resources and information for people identified with ACEs who need 
signposting to further sources of support.

• Increase our understanding of the distribution of ACEs across Gloucestershire.

• Incorporate ACEs informed approaches into relevant organisational policies, strategies and 
contracts.

• Evaluate interventions and share good practice and positive outcomes from ACEs work 
across Gloucestershire, the South West and beyond.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
Gloucestershire ACEs Panel leads on the ACEs Strategy and 
reports to the Health and Wellbeing Board. Further information is 
available at www.actionaces.org

Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203016 17

Nearly 50% of 
people in England 

experience at
least one ACE

Around
9% experience 

four or more 
ACEs

Spotlight on:
Partnership work with 

communities

The ACEs Strategy explicitly acknowledges the vital role 
of communities in taking action on ACEs and building 
resilience; agencies cannot do this work alone.

Two community pilots are being developed in Gloucester 
and Cheltenham. These pilots will provide valuable 
information through testing out different approaches to 
building resilient communities acting on ACEs. Early results 
are encouraging, with a high level engagement from extended 
families and increased trust and relationship building.

For example, one parent was having escalating problems with their personal 
situation and that of their children, as well as problems maintaining their property. 
Via personal support, trust has been established and the parent is now engaged in 
community activities. They have grown massively in confidence and self-esteem, 
regularly attend family support sessions and have started volunteering.

Abuse

Neglect

Physical 
abuse

Sexual
abuse

Emotional 
abuse

Physical
neglect

Emotional 
neglect

Mental 
illness

Substance 
misuse

Incarceration

Parental 
separation

Domestic 
abuse

Household adversities

P
age 15



Priority 3: Mental wellbeing
Mental health and wellbeing are affected by individual factors, by population 
characteristics and by socio-economic circumstances. Most of these risk factors not only 
contribute to poor mental health but are also often the outcomes of poor mental health, 
i.e. social isolation can contribute to poor mental health but 
equally poor mental health can contribute to social isolation. 
A focus on mental wellbeing is a vital component of the work 
our whole system does to improve the health, wellbeing and 
quality of life of our population.

Where are we now?
• Anyone can be affected by poor mental health at any 

point in their lives. 

• One in four adults experience at least one diagnosable 
mental health problem in any given year.

• The national mental wellbeing survey measures people’s
 outlook on life satisfaction, feeling worthwhile, happy and 
 anxious. For Gloucestershire, approximately one in five people have high self-reported 

anxiety scores. 

• There are already some good examples of practice in Gloucestershire such as the 
mental health trailblazer work through the Clinical Programme Group (CPG) and work 

through the Autism Strategy Group. 

Where do we want to be?
The ambition is for every resident of Gloucestershire 
to enjoy the best possible mental health and wellbeing 
throughout the course of their life.

How will we get there?
We will promote mental wellbeing and prevent mental 
illness across the lifetime through:

• Promoting good mental health and wellbeing from the 
earliest age.

• Gloucestershire Wellbeing (GloW) and the 
Gloucestershire commitment to promoting mental 
wellbeing through organisations and employers.

• Helping people build the Five Ways to Wellbeing into their everyday lives.

• Preventing suicide and self-harm.

• Creating and sustaining the conditions for good mental wellbeing.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
The Gloucestershire Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership Board will continue to lead 
and co-ordinate the delivery of this priority. 

Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203018 19

1 in 4 adults 
    experience 
  at least one 
mental health 
problem in 
any year

1 in 5
people in 

Gloucestershire 
have high 

self-reported 
anxiety 

Spotlight on:
GloW and the 

Gloucestershire 
Commitment

Led by the Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing 
Board, GloW has been launched as a commitment 
to taking positive action to improve mental 
wellbeing for everyone in Gloucestershire.

The aim of the campaign is to increase focus on 
the contributing factors of mental wellbeing and help 

organisations and communities recognise where they 
can make improvements to have a positive impact on our 

day-to-day wellbeing. By looking to make a difference to these, 
we are able to improve the mental wellbeing of Gloucestershire residents, and 
prevent mental illness in the future.

When we focus on the factors that affect our wellbeing day-to-day, we are in a better 
position to keep ourselves well and less likely to hit crisis point. At the heart of GloW 
is the Gloucestershire Commitment, signed by organisations in the public, private and 
voluntary sectors who want to pledge to be a part of the movement.

This is based on the national Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health, led by 
Public Health England – www.gov.uk/government/
collections/prevention-concordat-for-better-mental-
health. The wide range of partners who have already 
signed the Gloucestershire Commitment can be 
seen at www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/glow.

Five ways to wellbeing

P
age 16



The Enabling Active Communities Group undertook the deep dive with a number of 
structured interviews with a wide cross section of individuals, community groups, voluntary 
and statutory organisations across the county. Based on the feedback received to date, 
the approach to tackling social isolation and loneliness can be grouped into the following 
areas of focus:

• Create face-to-face opportunities for people 
to network, including intergenerational 
opportunities.

• Recognise and optimise the importance of 
friends, family and partners.

• Support/empower vulnerable people to join 
social groups, initially through one to one 
support.

• Encouraging people to make the time to 
get to know their neighbours through the 
creation of community events and welcome 
packs for new people moving into the area.

• Make more use of the resources around us, 
i.e. spaces and benches.

• Active design for new housing developments.

• Creating the conditions for and supporting individuals and communities to solve 
problems and do more for themselves.

• Adopt an strengths based approach in all we do.

How will this be delivered and monitored?
This is a shared priority between the Health and Wellbeing 
Board, Safer Gloucestershire and Enabling Active 
Communities. This is a good example of where districts 
will work in different ways; but will be able to measure and 
feedback on activity, outputs and outcomes.

Priority 4: Social isolation and loneliness
Loneliness and isolation are not the same thing. Social isolation is defined as ‘an objective 
state determined by the quantity of social relationships and contacts between individuals, 
across groups and communities.’ Meanwhile loneliness is defined as ‘a subjective state 

based on a person’s emotional perception of the number and/or quality 
of social connections they need compared to what is currently 

being experienced’. Therefore, it is possible for an individual to be 
socially isolated without feeling lonely, or conversely feel lonely 
without being socially isolated. 

There is a growing body of research that identifies and  
quantifies the impact of social isolation and loneliness on 
individuals and the wider economy. There is clear evidence 

that social isolation and loneliness are associated with negative 
health outcomes, which in turn places increased stress on local 

health and social care services.

Where are we now?
• One in two adult social care users in Gloucestershire   

have as much social contact as they would like.

• Over a quarter (28.5%) of adult carers in 
Gloucestershire have as much social contact as 
they would like.

• The Community Wellbeing Survey carried out 
in July 2017 reported ‘38% of all respondents 
feel lonely at times, and loneliness is highest in 
those with a mental health issue, a long term 
illness and/or a learning disability. Those with a 
car as their main form of transport considered 
themselves less lonely’. However, this was 
based on a small sample of 606 respondents.

Where do we want to be?
The ambition is to reduce social isolation and loneliness, and enable local people to take 
an active role in building and nurturing strong social networks and vibrant communities.

How will we get there?
This is a priority that requires a fuller understanding of where the focus is needed. The 
Health and Wellbeing Board requested a deep dive into this priority, which helped to 
identify actions. 

1 in 2 adult
social care users 

in Gloucestershire 
has as much social 

contact as they 
would like

The
Community 

Wellbeing Survey 
in 2017 found 

38% feel lonely
at times

Over a
quarter (28.5%) 
of adult carers in 
Gloucestershire 

have as much social 
contact as they

would like

Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203020 21

P
age 17



Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203022 23

Spotlight on:
Wye Valley Area of 

Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB) 

MindSCAPE
project

MindSCAPE was a Wye Valley AONB project, funded by 
the Big Lottery Fund and delivered by Artspace Cinderford 
in partnership with the Forest of Dean District Council and 
Forestry Commission. The project was aimed at improving 
the mental and physical health of people diagnosed with 
early onset dementia and their carers. It aimed to reduce 
social isolation and help them to reconnect with the natural 
environment. 

Fortnightly sessions included activities to engage participants with the outdoors and 
the natural environment. Training for professionals and family carers was also delivered, 
enabling people to feel confident carrying out MindSCAPE type activities independently 
in their own setting. The project contributed towards the Forest of Dean becoming a 
‘dementia friendly’ community and has, in partnership with the Forest of Dean District 
Council and the Gloucestershire County Council Dementia Education Team, trained a 
team of voluntary ‘dementia champions’.

Over four years there were 96 sessions delivered to 55 participants (29 carers, 26 
people with dementia). The combination of arts and the environment is one that 
isn’t otherwise available to this hard to reach and often isolated group, and it has 
proved hugely rewarding. The creative and relaxed atmosphere in sessions provided 
participants with a wonderful experience, which they enthusiastically attended on a 
regular basis. Since the end of BIG Lottery funding, the MindSCAPE group now forms 
part of the Branching Out project led by Artspace Cinderford and funded by the Arts 
Council England. Here is what participants said:

Priority 5: Healthy lifestyles
Collectively it is estimated that ‘lifestyle factors’ are responsible for 25% of overall health 
outcomes. Key lifestyle factors are diet and physical activity, maintaining a healthy weight, 
smoking, alcohol consumption and drug use. 

From the Health and Wellbeing Board’s perspective, the focus 
needs to be on where programmes require transformative co-

ordinated action across a broad range of stakeholders to 
have impact at a population level. For this priority, initially 
the Health and Wellbeing Board will focus on healthy 
weight. 

Obesity reduces life expectancy by an average of three 
years, while severe obesity reduces it by eight years. 

People living with obesity are at increased risk of a range 
of health issues, including diabetes, heart disease, stroke, 

cancer, mental ill-health and musculoskeletal problems. 
Obesity is a health inequalities issue with children living in the most 

deprived parts of the county being twice as likely to be affected as those living in the 
least deprived areas. 

Where are we now?
• Two thirds of adults in Gloucestershire are overweight 

and of these approximately 120,000 are living with 
obesity. 

• One in ten (9.9%) 4-5 year olds and nearly one in 
five (17.8%) 10-11 year olds in Gloucestershire are 
living with obesity. 

• Gloucester City has the highest level of childhood 
obesity in the South West region (21.2% of  
10-11 year olds compared to 16.8% regionally). 
Of particular concern are escalating levels of severe 
obesity affecting 5% of 10-11 year olds in Gloucester 
(compared to 4.2% nationally). 

Where do we want to be?
In line with the national ambition for reducing childhood obesity we will aim to halve the 
level of childhood obesity among children living in Gloucestershire, and to significantly 
reduce the gap in the obesity rate between children living in the most and least deprived 
parts of the county by 2030

How will we get there?
Traditional approaches focusing on specific interventions to encourage people to alter 
their eating and physical activity habits are unlikely to reduce childhood obesity at a 
population level. 

Two thirds 
of adults in 

Gloucestershire 
are overweight

Gloucester
has the highest 

level of childhood 
obesity in the 

South West

Benefits are huge for my 
husband who really looks 
forward to sessions. For 
me, it’s meeting other 
people in the same boat 
and it gives me a few 
hours break

Coming up that 
drive way – you just 
know it’s going to 
be a great day

When people get a diagnosis 
their world becomes smaller and 
safer, here it is a space people 
can walk if they want to, the 
staff are very aware and enable 
people to get out and about

MindSCAPE is a place where 
people go for support and 
companionship, a place where 
someone will listen to you, a 
place full of fun and laughter, 
a place where everyone 
understands when you are 
going through tough times, a 
place where members feel safe

P
age 18



Emerging evidence suggests that whole systems 
approaches, involving a range of joined up actions to 
address the social, economic and environmental factors 
affecting eating and physical activity behaviours can be 
effective. However, evidence on how to operationalise 
such an approach is still in its infancy. For this reason we 
will adopt a ‘test and learn’ approach to shape our local 
programme.

This will include action to:

• Prevent excess weight gain by: creating healthier physical 
activity and food environments 

• Working with communities, and with Gloucestershire Moves to understand and shift 
social norms around eating and physical activity

• Equip those already affected by obesity with skills for sustainable weight loss. 
 
How will this be delivered and monitored?
The healthy weight programme and governance arrangements are being reviewed to 
include wider representation, and a balanced scorecard and learning framework are being 
developed. This will link to key areas of work including: Gloucestershire Moves, and the 
service development work being delivered through the Adult Weight Management Board. 

Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203024 25

Obesity
affects 21.2%
of 10-11 year

olds compared
to 16.8% 

regionally

Spotlight on:
Podsmead Food and 

Families Project

Community based insight research was conducted in 
Podsmead by Evolving Communities during 2018 to 
understand the factors affecting residents’ eating patterns, 
and their ideas and aspirations around food. A localised 
‘food system map’ has been developed using this insight. 

This will help to guide local action. 

A follow up Food and Families Community Fun Day will be used 
to scope the skills and experiences of residents on the estate and 

support the community to enact the improvement ideas put forward 
last year. This will also seek to identify where support from other partners is needed, 
for example, in influencing local policy decisions affecting the food environment. A 
community network will be established to support delivery and capture evidence of 
impact and wider learning. 

Priority 6: Early years and best start in life
Early years describes the journey from pregnancy to an aged 

5 child. This life stage and particularly the first 1,001 
days, is accepted to be the most significant in a child’s 

development in influencing their future health, emotional 
and social wellbeing than any other time in their life. 

Where are we now?
On average, there are around 6,700 live births per 
year in Gloucestershire. Gloucestershire is set to see 

an increase in the population aged 0-19 
between 2017 and 2021 of 5.4% (7,508 

children) with a disproportionate increase in 
children aged 0-4 years. 

• Around one in ten (10.9%) women in Gloucestershire are 
recorded as smokers when their baby is born. 

• Over three quarters of women in Gloucestershire (77%) 
initiate breastfeeding, although this figure has remained 
fairly static.

• Less than three quarters (69.2%) of children in 
Gloucestershire have achieved a good level of 
development by the end of reception. This is worse than 
the national average. Less than half (48.9%) of children 
who receive free school meals achieve this standard locally.

 
Where do we want to be?
We want to ensure that every child in Gloucestershire has the best 
start in life. 

How will we get there?
The key areas of focus include:
• Attachment and responsive parenting
• Childhood poverty
• Healthy lifestyles including oral health
• Childhood immunisations in 0-5 year olds
• School readiness (with a focus on those in receipt of free 

school meals)
• Vulnerable children
• Breastfeeding
• Smoking in pregnancy and early years
• ACEs 

6,700
live births in 

Gloucestershire 
per year

1 in 10
women 

recorded as 
smokers when 
their baby is 

born

Over three 
quarters of 

women start 
breastfeeding

P
age 19



How will this be delivered and monitored?
There is currently no single overarching partnership in Gloucestershire 
for a co-ordinated approach to achieving this ambition. Further work 
is required to scope this Health and Wellbeing Board priority and to 
understand where the Board can add the greatest value. 

This is a partnership agenda that will need to work with an existing 
and emerging structure of work programmes and governance, which 
includes:

• Better Births
• Children and Families Partnership Framework
• Children’s Improvement Plan
• Safeguarding Children and the new Working Together guidance
• Child Friendly Gloucestershire
• Mental Health Trailblazer Pilot
• ACEs Partnership
 
The aim is to achieve better continuity, integration, efficiency, reduced 
duplication and ultimately improved outcomes. 

Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203026 27

Spotlight on:
Better births

Gloucestershire Local Maternity System (LMS) brings 
together clinicians and provider organisations, 
commissioners and service users from across the 
Integrated Care System Network to plan and deliver 
maternity and early years care. In response to the National 
Maternity Review, this delivers our Better Births Maternity 
Transformation Plan. Some of the successes to date include:

•  Redesigning the antenatal education offer to ensure that it 
meets the needs of women, is based on evidence and includes an 
integrated approach with the Health Visiting Service so women and families receive 
continuity of care.

•  Piloting of a multi-professional integrated postnatal pathway to ensure that women 
and families receive a more joined up approach to care between health visiting and 
maternity services.

•  Developing services so that more women have access to the same team of 
midwives throughout the journey through pregnancy birth and the early years. This 
model has been shown to improve a number of outcomes.

•  Set up a Maternity Voices Partnership to ensure that the voice of women is 
embedded in continual service improvement.

•  Keeping more mums and babies together in the postnatal period, providing 
alternative safe options of care avoiding admissions of babies to the neonatal unit.

•  Developed a system wide Safety Improvement plan to deliver high quality care to 
every woman and family every time.

Spotlight on:
A district level 

approach - No Child 
Left Behind

Cheltenham partners recently commissioned a needs 
assessment that highlighted the extent of child poverty in 
the town. The assessment told us that 4,300 children and 
young people are growing up in poverty and that those 
children, when compared to their more affluent peers are 

then facing significant challenges such as poorer education 
attainment, higher rates of exclusion, higher risk of being 

victims of crime, higher risk of being obese, higher risk of being 
open to social care, higher risk of self-harm.

In response to the needs assessment, Cheltenham Borough Council and its partners 
committed to a year of action, called No Child Left Behind, that is:
•  Highlighting the issue of children growing up in poverty in Cheltenham and the 

inequality between them and their more affluent peers
•  Starting to address the inequality gap beginning with a 12 month programme of 

events and activities
•  A call to action for all sectors to work together to make transformational change over 

the longer-term

Partners have looked at the main issues associated with child poverty and devised 
a year of themed action. Each month focuses on a key area with events, activities 
and campaigns to engage young people, strengthen communities and help people 
to understand what they can do if they are experiencing difficulties. Examples of the 
themes include:

•  #OurTown – activity included over 100 people attending a local poverty summit 

•  #PositiveRelationships – during this campaign month a series of 
training and awareness raising sessions were provided for 85 
professionals and teachers on how to support young people 
experiencing domestic abuse. 

•  #StrongFamilies – a screening of the ground-breaking documentary 
“Resilience: The biology of stress & the science of hope” to 
200 professionals and a plan to relaunch the Inspiring 
Families project. 

P
age 20



29Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203028

Priority 7: Housing and health
The age, condition and affordability of housing have a number of health consequences 

relating to overcrowding, fuel poverty and excessive cold, respiratory 
problems, and emotional wellbeing. Poor housing has an impact on 

the health outcomes for children and older people in particular, 
including psychological distress and mental disorders, with people 
in crowded conditions tending to suffer from multiple deprivation. 
People who do not have access to affordable housing and 
may be homeless or at risk of homelessness are more likely to 
experience worse health outcomes than the general population.

Where are we now?
The ratio of house prices to earnings in 2015 was higher than the 

national average in every district except Gloucester, indicating that 
houses are unaffordable for residents on lower incomes. Average rental 

costs are in line with the regional average but there are wide 
variations across the county.

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) in 2015 listed 33 areas in 
Gloucestershire in the most deprived 10% nationally for ‘Barriers to 
Housing and Services’. The housing aspect of this indicator measures 
household overcrowding, homelessness, and housing affordability. This 
accounts for 9.9% of the population in the county.

The IMD also assesses ‘Living Environment’ deprivation, 
which includes indoors living environment, housing in 

poor condition, and houses without central heating. There are 17 
areas of Gloucestershire in the 10% most deprived nationally in 
this domain which accounts for 28,126 people (4.6%).

Where do we want to be?
We want to ensure health and wellbeing are promoted through 

improvements in the quality, affordability, availability, and suitability 
of housing. 
 

This is all through a partnership approach. Further 
work is needed to understand what the one or two main 

housing objectives under this priority should be and where the Health and 
Wellbeing Board can add the greatest value. 

How will we get there?
Subject to further scoping, the main areas could include::

• Housing design and quality 
• Housing conditions 
• Homelessness and housing for those in vulnerable circumstances 
• Housing with care 
• Intergenerational living
• Surrounding physical infrastructure 
• Surrounding community infrastructure
 

Ratio of house 
prices to earnings 

higher than the 
national average

in all districts

Rental costs 
in line with 

regional 
average

17 areas
in Gloucestershire

in top 10% nationally 
for poor living 

conditions

How will this be delivered and monitored?
There is no one single board which addresses housing and health at a county wide level. 
Relevant groups and boards include:

• Strategic Housing Programme Board
• Gloucestershire Strategic Housing Group/Strategic Directors 
• Gloucestershire Economic Growth Joint Committee
• Joint Core Strategy Planning Delivery Group
• County Planners Group
• County Homelessness Implementation Group (CHIG)

Housing is also linked to the Vision 2050 Boards: Central Gloucestershire Growth Board, 
Central Gloucestershire City Region Board, Severn Vale Board and Rural Ambition Board. 
This list is by no means exhaustive and fundamentally, it does not reflect district level 
boards.

Further work is being undertaken to scope out this priority and best understand where the 
Health and Wellbeing Board can most add value to improving housing and health. 

Spotlight on:
Healthy homes

The joint housing action plan has provided funding for 
a number of initiatives to improve people’s health and 
wellbeing. One of these projects is the Citizens Advice 
Bureau healthy homes team. They can take referrals from 
health teams who have identified people whose home 
environment is having a negative impact on their health. 
Self-referral is also possible as is referral from other statutory 
and voluntary organisations. Comprehensive benefits advice is 
provided and, where appropriate, people can be referred in to Warm 
and Well for energy efficiency improvements or heating systems. They will also be 
signposted to other support services where appropriate. 

This case features a woman aged 75 diagnosed with cancer and undergoing 
chemotherapy. She was referred to the Citizens Advice Bureau healthy homes team 
by the cancer support team. She was living on her own, she was very concerned 

about her health and her mental health was suffering as a result. In her baseline 
assessment she reported 8/10 for feeling anxious and 3/10 for feeling 
worthwhile. The caseworker supported her around her finances and identified 
benefits that she was eligible for but not currently receiving. She was also 

referred to the Warm and Well service and a grant was provided so her boiler 
could be replaced. This not only saved her money but improved her home 

environment and reduced her risk of illness linked to her vulnerable condition 
following her treatment. 

A follow up assessment recorded 5/10 for anxiety and 6/10 for feeling 
worthwhile alongside the expected health benefits of having a warmer 

home.

P
age 21



Our approach to delivering the 
strategy
To deliver the priorities, we have considered some Health and Wellbeing Board principles 
for ways of working: 

Principles for ways of working
• A systems leader: The Health and Wellbeing Board to take a position 

as a systems leader to enable and facilitate change to improve 
population health and wellbeing.

• Prevention focused: Developing a system wide shared understanding 
and commitment to prevention and early intervention. 

• Collaborative and community centred: Taking a strengths based, 
community centred approach. Ensuring a collaborative approach 
engaging communities in ongoing conversations about the health and 
wellbeing priorities, assets and how we measure success. 

• Holistic: Taking a whole person, whole life and whole population 
approach to prevention.

• Equally valuing physical and mental health: Ensuring equality in 
how we think about mental health and physical health and how they are 
valued. 

• Tackling health inequalities: Developing shared understanding and 
commitment to addressing the differences in health status that exist 
between people due to social, geographical, biological or other factors. 

• Addressing the wider determinants of health and wellbeing: 
Recognising that many poor outcomes in health and wellbeing result from a complex 
interaction and accumulation of factors and poor life chances over time. 

• Recognising where we add value: Focusing on actions where by working together 
we can make the biggest difference to those in the greatest need.

Developing a place based approach is a key way of putting into operation the overall 
vision for health and wellbeing. This strategy gives an overarching set of priorities but 
recognises the need for a flexible approach to delivery to reflect the differences at local, 
community levels. 

A shared understanding of prevention
The Health and Wellbeing Board has a key role in ensuring that there is a sustained focus 
on embedding prevention across the health and social care system, taking a place-based 
approach (looking at communities and neighbourhoods) that goes beyond just thinking 
about what public sector services provide.

7

31Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203030

The Local Government Association Peer Challenge recommended that a clear and 
consistent definition of ‘prevention’ should be developed, owned and used by all partners. 
Prevention means different things to different people. The framework of primary, secondary 
and tertiary prevention is useful for helping to define what we mean by prevention: 

At a population level, health improvement opportunities that look to prevent the need for 
treatment services are more cost effective than treating people. 

Addressing health inequalities
Tackling poverty and inequality is a theme running across all of 
our health and wellbeing priorities. In line with the NHS Long-Term 
Plan, we are committed to a ‘more concerted and systematic 
approach to reducing health inequalities’. We remain dedicated to 
improving outcomes for those in the worst position fastest.

We recognise that inequalities can be identified according to 
where people live, and that this is particularly true in some areas 
where there are high levels of deprivation and need; but there are 
also inequalities between genders, ethnicities, ages and abilities 
that we need to tackle. We will take an evidence based approach 
to reducing health inequalities through our work on each of the 
priorities.

Primary prevention
includes health improvement and requires action on the 

determinants of health to prevent disease occurring. 

Secondary prevention
is essentially the early detection of disease,

followed by appropriate intervention, such as
health improvement activity or treatment.

Tertiary prevention
aims to reduce the impact of

the disease and promote
quality of life

through active 
rehabilitation.

P
age 22



Measuring success 
The overarching framework for measuring success for the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy is from the national outcomes framework. Table 2 shows the core indicators 
used and the current position. Further indicators will be identified.

Each priority will have a position statement providing greater detail of the objectives and 
performance management. 

The Health and Wellbeing Board regularly monitors and reviews this strategy.

Table 2: Key indicator set

9

Gloucestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019 - 203032 33

Priority Key indicator Gloucestershire 
baseline

95% CI South 
West

England Date of 
baseline

Source

Physical 
activity

Percentage of 
physically inactive 
adults

18.5% 17.1 – 
20.0%

18.7 22.2 PHOF 
2.13ii 

Mental 
wellbeing

Self-reported wellbeing 
- people with a high 
anxiety score

18.2% 15.4 – 
21.1%

19.6% 20.0% 2017/18 PHOF 
2.23iv 

Self-reported wellbeing 
- people with a low 
happiness score

8.7% 6.6 – 
10.7%

7.4% 8.2% 2017/18 PHOF 
2.23iii

Social 
isolation/
loneliness

Percentage of adult 
social care users who 
have as much social 
contact as they would 
like

49.2% 45.2 – 
53.2%

46.0% 46.0% 2017/18 PHOF 
1.18i 

Percentage of adult 
carers who have as 
much social contact 
as they would like

28.5% 24.9 – 
32.3%

32.3% 35.5% 2017/18 PHOF 
1.18ii

Healthy 
lifestyles – 
healthy weight

Child excess weight in 
4-5 year olds

23.8% 22.7 – 
24.8%

21.9% 22.4% 2017/18 PHOF 
2.06i

Child excess weight in 
10-11 year olds 

32.1% 31.0 – 
33.3%

30.3% 34.3% 2017/18 PHOF 
2.06ii

Delivering the priorities
Whilst all of the priorities need a whole systems approach, it remains important to have an 
identified lead for each priority. There will be an identified partnership and a named Health 
and Wellbeing Board member responsible for the strategic oversight of each priority (see 
table 1).

Table 1: Strategic leadership for each priority

8

Priority Partnership Board leading Health and Wellbeing 
Board member lead

Physical activity Gloucestershire Moves Dr Andy Seymour

Adverse Childhood 
Experiences (ACEs)

ACEs Panel Julian Moss

Mental wellbeing Mental Health and Wellbeing 
Partnership Board

tbc

Social isolation and loneliness Enabling Active Communities Mary Hutton / Chris Brierley

Healthy lifestyles Healthy Weight Programme Board Sarah Scott

Early years / Best Start in Life tbc Andy Dempsey

Housing tbc Pat Pratley

Source:  The Public Health Outomes Framework (PHOF) is a set of supporting indicators 
from Public Health England that help us understand how well we’re doing.

95% CI:  Since data is based on estimates, the 95% confidence interval shows the range 
in which we are sure true baseline falls within.

P
age 23



G
C

C
_2

59
6 

7.
19

Page 24



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title One Gloucestershire Way

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health
Mary Hutton, Integrated Care System lead
Julian Moss, Assistant Chief Constable

Author Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council
Gloucestershire Integrated Care System
Gloucestershire Constabulary

Key Issues:  
Since 2011, Wigan Council has embarked a major process of change involving 
moving towards asset-based working at scale, empowering communities and creating 
a culture that allows staff to work in imaginative person and community-centered 
ways. At the heart of this is an attempt to strike a new relationship between public 
services and local people that has become known as the ‘Wigan Deal’.

The King’s Fund recently published their independent critique of the Wigan Deal 
which can be access here: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/wigan-deal 

Initial discussions have started in Gloucestershire about how we learn from their 
approach, recognise the elements that are already working in Gloucestershire and 
create a model that fits with the ‘One Gloucestershire Way’. 

Recommendations to Board: 
1. Review and comment on the paper.
2. Agree an approach to developing a ‘One Gloucestershire Way’ (see section 5)
3. Agree next steps

Financial/Resource Implications: 

This would require further scoping. 

Page 25

Agenda Item 7

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/wigan-deal


One Gloucestershire Way – Scoping paper

1. Purpose
Recent discussions at the last Health and Wellbeing Board included the idea of creating an 
approach similar to the Wigan Deal. It was proposed that this would form the beginning part of the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS).  

The purpose of this paper is to outline how we might learn from the Wigan Deal and further develop 
our strengths based ways of working. 

2. Background
Since 2011, Wigan Council has embarked a major process of change involving moving towards 
asset-based working at scale, empowering communities and creating a culture that allows staff to 
work in imaginative person and community-centered ways. At the heart of this is an attempt to strike 
a new relationship between public services and local people that has become known as the ‘Wigan 
Deal’.

The King’s Fund recently published their independent critique of the Wigan Deal which can be 
access here: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/wigan-deal 

The ‘deal’ is an informal agreement between the council and everyone who lives or works there to 
work together to create a better borough. There is a commitment to a series of pledges and in return 
the need for residents and businesses to play their part too. One of the deals is a health and 
wellness deal.

However, the actual deal was only one element. In Wigan it was about creating cultural change in 
the public sector. There was a long-term, widespread commitment to working differently with the 
population they serve. It required significant senior level commitment and investment to support 
this approach in terms of community engagement, staff training and larger scale marketing and 
communications. 

Initial discussions have started in Gloucestershire about how we learn from their approach, 
recognise the elements that are already working in Gloucestershire and create a model that fits with 
the ‘One Gloucestershire Way’. 

Wigan highlighted 10 essential components (box 1). It is important to recognise that we already 
have some excellent examples of working in a way which aligns with these ten key elements. We 
need to form a better narrative around this and look at how we develop each of these elements 
further. The scope and scale of this programme needs to be based on a realistic view of what can 
be achieved against the backdrop of substantial work agendas and by bringing together the 
expertise, skills and input from a range of partners.

Page 26

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/wigan-deal


Box 1:   Wigan Deal – 10 essential components
1. A strong narrative – a simple concept that everyone can understand but is profound in its implications.
2. A belief that this is a movement, not a project – rooting the approach in public service values: ‘It’s why 

I became a social worker.’
3. Leadership at every level – commitment and senior sponsorship.
4. Workforce culture change – training and core behaviours that define how we work, whatever the role.
5. A different relationship with residents and communities – building self-reliance and independence.
6. Permission to work differently – leadership backing: ‘We will support you.’
7. Redesigning the system – testing our systems, processes and ways of working against our principles: 

‘Do they make the culture and behaviours we want more or less likely?’
8. Enabling staff with the right tools and knowledge – using new technology to support new ways of 

working and new roles.
9. A new model of commissioning and community investment – market development and new 

arrangements for commissioning.
10. Supportive enabling functions – breaking down barriers to progress and facilitating the change.

Source: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/wigan-deal

3. What are we seeking to achieve?
Having a co-ordinated ‘One Gloucestershire Way’ approach is an opportunity to build on and 
develop widespread change. We would develop a shared understanding of working in a strengths 
based approach where individuals, families, communities and organisations talk about health in a 
positive way which values health but recognises that it takes effort to retain and improve it. 

The purpose of this would be to have a county where:
 We are a healthier 
 We are better able to help ourselves and others to stay well 
 We get ill less often and for shorter periods of time
 Our children get the best start in life
 Our communities become more resilient
 We reduce avoidable treatment and care so services can treat those with the greatest 

needs.

We recognise that positive health outcomes will not be achieved by a 'doing to' culture and 
meaningful social change will only occur when people and communities have the opportunities and 
facility to control and manage their own futures. If we are to achieve the outcomes listed above, we 
need to mainstream the models for new ways of working and give senior commitment. In line with 
the Wigan Deal, we need to give people the permission to innovate. 

4. Current local context
Taking a more strengths based approach requires a different way of thinking and different 
conversations. We evidently already have in place a great deal of work which gives the foundations 
for this approach. The voluntary and community sector have a long history of working in this way 
and district councils such as Gloucester City have invested in this approach. 

4.1 Examples of significant programmes and projects locally
 The Know Your Patch Networks - these were established for those working with individuals and 

groups to help people stay independent for longer and lead full and happier lives. They help to 
connect and strengthen relationships between statutory, health, social care and voluntary/ 
community sector practitioners.

Page 27

https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/wigan-deal


 Growing our Communities Fund; Thriving Communities Grants - Small grants for non-profit 
making organisations. Addressing gaps or providing more activities that enable communities to 
flourish and support  people to stay living independently  

 Strengthening local communities - a programme is led by six district councils and is funded 
through the Prevention Fund. Working in one neighbourhood in each of the districts, the councils 
develop a community-based model that creates the right culture, environment and conditions to 
enable people to look after themselves. This way of working could realise significant benefits to 
the wellbeing of these communities as well as a demonstrable reduction in demand for health 
and care services.  It is important to stress that these place based approaches are tailored to the 
local context and will therefore vary. 

 Better conversations - Better conversations - aims to improve capability in coaching skills for 
health and wellbeing across the system. It moves beyond the delivery of discrete training offers 
to developing a coherent and sustainable approach to building coaching skills and techniques 
across the ICS workforce. This is underpinned by developing a shared culture and values which 
encourages, allows and supports the use of these skills. 

4.2 Examples of strategic approaches locally
This way of working is not new for Gloucestershire. There are excellent examples with the Adult 
Single Programme, Restorative Practice and Better Conversations in terms of how we change the 
conversations we have. We recognise single project or programme examples which take a 
strengths based approach but often fail to view our system wide approach to adopting this way of 
working. The ‘One Gloucestershire Way’ could be an opportunity to communicate how we are 
moving towards a more strengths based approach and could provide a clearer narrative about the 
work in place that supports this. 

We can learn for the approach of Action on ACEs locally. Appendix 1 summaries the approach 
taken by Action on ACEs mapped against the 10 essential elements of the Wigan Deal approach. 

Strategically, Enabling Active Communities (EAC) board brings together cross sector partners and 
creates the environment to discuss community led approaches and the role of the public sector. 

5. Approach – creating a ‘One Gloucestershire Way’
From Gloucestershire Moves to the work on Action on ACEs (Adverse Childhood Experiences), our 
system is getting better at understanding how we build social movement.  

We have a great opportunity to shift power to people, places and communities to enhance their 
strengths to help prevent illness and improve health. To do this though, we need to create a 
narrative that joins things up and invests in our own asset through workforce development.

Inspired by the Wigan Deal and taking account of the successful partnership initiatives in the county, 
the County Council, Integrated Care System (ICS) and Constabulary are proposing a co-ordinated 
approach which will be the ‘One Gloucestershire Way’. 

This would need to be a phased approach starting with developing a clear narrative and then 
supporting how we change behaviours:

 A clear narrative: Development of a partnership ‘One Gloucestershire Way’ narrative that 
reframes how we communicate about health and wellness.  This narrative should set out our 
shared values and principles. 

Page 28



 Changing behaviours: The narrative needs to translate into action and a level of support 
would be needed to see these changes in behaviours. This may include strengthening the 
offer of support around ‘Better Conversations’ and supporting more strengths based working 
through the district councils and wider partners. 

The later stages of this could include developing a deal or pledge and public facing 
communications. 
 A health and wellness deal: Drawing on the key features of the narrative, the creation of a 

health and wellness deal; highlighting the specific responsibilities/pledges of partner 
agencies and also the public in support of making Gloucestershire a healthier place to live 
and work. A programme of meaningful community engagement will need to be an integral 
part of this development work so there is a real sense of ownership within the 
Gloucestershire population and across communities of interest. 
The deal could work by communicating the pledges of organisations, communities and 
individuals.

 Public facing communications: Key campaign strands linked to the deal pledges above to 
bring them to life. This could include a marketing campaign incorporating for example, 
outdoor advertising and film/social media elements.

The outcomes will be wide spread change in the way of working. It presents the Health and 
Wellbeing Board and Integrated Care System (ICS) with an opportunity to have a shared 
understanding and commitment to strengths based working which should guide future 
commissioning.

6. Support required for developing this approach:
We need to build on the 10 essential elements set out in box 1 and focus on the following: 

Co ordination – capacity would be required to co-ordinate and develop a clear narrative. This could 
be delivered through the Prevention, Wellbeing and Communities Hub of GCC, in partnership with 
the CCG but would require capacity to be identified. 

Workforce development - Better conversations – as part of One Gloucestershire Way the 
system would need to take steps to embed a culture of coaching across the ICS (to include both 
work place conversations and the conversations we have with the public). There would need to be 
dedicated resources to enable this to be rolled out and allowing people to innovate. The 
development of this coaching approach across all levels of the system has begun with the Better 
Conversations and Leadership groups joining together to strengthen the links and ensure the 
underlying ethos through all our coaching training offers.

Community engagement – this should form a key element of the approach and would need some 
consideration about how this is best delivered. 

Media and communications – this would include developing and promoting the pledge, as well as 
co-ordinating campaigns. This element could be commissioned from an external provider. 

Place based working – to deliver this at a place based level, agencies and communities could be 
supported to further develop an asset based approach. We would need to explore what this support 
offer might look like.  

Page 29



Appendix 1. Wigan Deal essential components mapped against 
Gloucestershire’s approach to Action on ACEs.

Wigan Deal – 10 essential 
components

Approach taken by Action on ACEs Gloucestershire www.actionaces.org 

A strong narrative – a simple 
concept that everyone can 
understand but is profound in 
its implications.

The ACEs Strategy sets out a vision for a resilient Gloucestershire where 
communities and organisations are aware of, able to talk about and take 
action on ACEs.  It gives a message of hope; that the potential negative 
effects of ACEs can be overcome by building resilience, and that ACEs can 
be prevented in future generations.  

We used an external communications agency to help refine the narrative 
and develop strong positive branding in keeping with our message of hope. 
Consistency has been key, ensuring we deliver and repeat the same 
messages with clarity, every time we speak, share or interact. 

A belief that this is a 
movement, not a project – 
rooting the approach in public 
service values: ‘It’s why I 
became a social worker.’

The mission of Action on ACEs is to build a social movement that recognises 
the potential lifelong impacts of adversity in childhood and takes action to 
stop childhood harm. We are seeking long term behaviour change and 
creating a groundswell of activity by inspiring people to take action. 

Many people who are joining the movement have told us that whilst 
they’ve been working in this area for many years, things finally make sense 
to them now they have an understanding of the science of ACEs and 
resilience.  In other words; it resonates with their values.

Leadership at every level – 
commitment and senior 
sponsorship.

Action on ACEs uses ‘super influencers’ within key organisations, all of 
whom have come on board because they believe in the movement, not 
simply because they were nominated. These influencers are not just 
leaders, chief executives and senior professionals – they are people who are 
known and trusted in their own communities.  Being led by the Chair of the 
Health & Wellbeing Board as well as senior executives from the biggest 
public sector employers also makes a difference. 

The ACEs Panel has used the concept of ‘viral change’ to establish a 
network of ACEs Ambassadors, thus effectively mobilising people across the 
county to lead and influence implementation of the ACEs Strategy.  This is a 
different approach to strategy development and implementation than 
those that have previously been used in Gloucestershire.  

Workforce culture change – 
training and core behaviours 
that define how we work, 
whatever the role.

The ACEs movement is all about changing behaviour, the way we approach 
our work and looking at people through a different lens.  An awareness of 
ACEs and trauma allows people to develop a new mindset and change the 
question from ‘what’s wrong with you’, to ‘what’s happened to you’, and 
‘what’s made you strong’.  

We are learning from local voluntary and public sector organisations as they 
continue their journey to become trauma-informed, putting kindness, 
compassion and relationships at the heart of what they do.

A different relationship with 
residents and communities – 

The vision of Action on ACEs is a resilient Gloucestershire where 
communities and organisations are acting on ACEs.  Developing resilience 

Page 30

http://www.actionaces.org/


building self-reliance and 
independence.

through access to a trusted adult in childhood, supportive friends, positive 
attachments and being engaged in community activities has been shown to 
improve outcomes even in those who experience high levels of ACEs.  This 
relies on active, thriving and resilient communities.  

Two community pilots were initially developed in Cheltenham and 
Gloucester, led by local housing organisations, with a further one in Stroud, 
led by a voluntary sector organisation, now joining the movement.  Each of 
these is taking a slightly different approach, learning what works at 
grassroots level in different communities.

Permission to work 
differently – leadership 
backing: ‘We will support 
you.’

A key strapline for the Action on ACEs work has been ‘If you can put the 
science into the hands of the general public, they will invent very wise 
actions’.  The ACEs Panel developed a clear narrative and vision, and has 
then sought to ‘let go’ of control, or in other words, given people 
permission to innovate.   

Redesigning the system – 
testing our systems, processes 
and ways of working against 
our principles: ‘Do they make 
the culture and behaviours 
we want more or less likely?’

The ACEs Panel is currently undertaking an exercise to understand how the 
use of viral change has helped lead the movement so far, whilst also 
clarifying the desired behaviours and how well we are empowering people 
to innovate / behave differently.

An ACEs education sub-group is working to implement a consistent county 
wide approach and different culture in schools across the county that brings 
together Restorative Practice with the awareness of ACEs, trauma, 
resilience and mental wellbeing.  

Enabling staff with the right 
tools and knowledge – using 
new technology to support 
new ways of working and new 
roles.

A range of toolkits have been developed to help support commissioned 
providers to have a conversation around ACEs and resilience. These toolkits 
are now being piloted in a range of other settings to see how they are 
transferrable across other community and service contexts.  

A new model of 
commissioning and 
community investment – 
market development and new 
arrangements for 
commissioning.

We are hearing many stories of how an understanding of ACEs is already 
being built into organisational policies, strategies and contracts; thus giving 
people a common language to talk about adversity and resilience. 

Supportive enabling 
functions – breaking down 
barriers to progress and 
facilitating the change.

The ACEs Panel seeks to empower communities and organisations to act on 
the ACEs science in the best way they can. We break down barriers by first 
sharing the science and then discussing the impact it could have on their 
work or life.   The Resilience movie screenings have been a key part of this – 
as an introduction to the movement and creating that lightbulb moment for 
others. 

Page 31



This page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Gloucestershire Community Safety Strategy: 2019-2022 

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Author Chris Brierley
Deputy Police & Crime Commissioner
Andy Dempsey
Director of Partnerships and Strategy

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council/
Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner

Key Issues:  

Safer Gloucestershire was established in July 2017 with the aim of ensuring a 
coherent, strategic approach to the delivery of community safety activity in 
Gloucestershire. This acknowledged that the focus on volume crime that has 
been central to community safety partnerships has extended in recent years to 
encompass more complex areas including child protection, managing 
persistent offenders and safeguarding vulnerable adults.  Research has also 
identified a complex co-morbidity of risk and vulnerability amongst offenders 
and victims.  

Operating within the wider network of agencies and thematic community 
safety processes, the role of Safer Gloucestershire is to:
 
 Create ‘a consensus of leadership’ for community safety working with 

district CSPs and county wide statutory and non statutory agencies.  This 
reflects a distributive approach towards leadership, extending beyond 
single agency boundaries.

 Provide greater clarity about the role of agencies and collaborative case 
management/thematic processes within an increasingly complex operating 
landscape.

 Ensure a streamlined approach to intelligence sharing and service 
provision reducing duplication and improving outcomes

 Develop a consistent multi-agency county wide response to cross cutting 
themes such as violent crime, domestic abuse, criminal exploitation, child 
sexual exploitation, radicalisation, FGM, honour based violence, forced 
marriage etc. – encompassing, prevention, diversion, disruption and 
prosecution activity.

Page 33

Agenda Item 8



 Identify opportunities for joint commissioning, collaboration and working 
informed by an exhaustive, collective appreciation of the challenges and 
risks to the safety of Gloucestershire citizens.

 Improve communications and positive engagement across the safer 
communities’ agenda.

The draft Strategy which has been agreed by local partners including those  
with continuing statutory responsibilities under the Crime and Disorder Act 
takes a tiered approach based on the following:

 A range of issues best tackled at a county level – county lines etc.
 An intermediary level that seeks to ‘grip the system’ around collective 

cohort management and victim support activity that is usually 
commissioned strategically but with a strong local resonance.

 District (locality) activity that informs and, is in turn, informed by County 
wide strategy – anti-social behaviour will best be tackled at locality level 
but within a county wide framework that provides for consistency of 
outcome.

Recommendations to Board: 

To note the progress made on the Safer Gloucestershire Strategy and Action 
Plan and the seek the views of the Board on maximising synergy between 
Safer Gloucestershire and Health and Wellbeing Board as part of a single 
vision for Gloucestershire.

Financial/Resource Implications: 

This work will focus on prevention and early intervention and will work by 
mobilising partner agencies working together as Safer Gloucestershire.

It also aims to simplify and strengthen leadership and accountability across 
the whole system with a particular focus on impact for victims and persistent 
offenders.

Page 34



Safer Gloucestershire
Community Safety Strategy
2019 - 2022

Page 35



1 | P a g e

Contents

No Chapter Page
Foreword 2

1 Background 3

2 Safer Gloucestershire Partners 3

3 Key Priorities 4

4 Our Approach 4 - 6

5 Police and Crime Commissioner 6

6 Links with the wider system 6 - 8

7 Safer Gloucestershire Secretariat 9

8 Gripping the System – multi-agency oversight 9 - 14

9 Community Engagement 14

10 Monitoring and Review 14

Appendix 1 Links with the wider system

Appendix 2 Glossary

Page 36



2 | P a g e

Foreword
I am pleased to say that Gloucestershire remains one of the safest 
places in the country to live and work, but that doesn’t mean we should 
be complacent as crime across the country is on the rise and 
Gloucestershire is no exception. 

Safer Gloucestershire offers us a real opportunity to make the system 
work better for our communities and for victims of crime.   That’s why 
tackling crime, fear of crime, vulnerability and anti-social behaviour are 
key priorities for Safer Gloucestershire and the county’s Community 
Safety Partnerships (CSPs) over the next few years. 

This document, along with the action plan, provides a strategic vision for community safety 
through a systems wide approach and by putting communities and their needs at the heart of 
what we do.  Listening to communities, working together and not imposing our views, are the 
hallmarks of our approach.  

For the first time in 20 years we have a countywide Strategic Needs Assessment (SNA).  This 
has highlighted priority areas of focus, which are explored throughout this document and also 
within the partnership action plan.  We need our system to be more data led and focussed on 
the impact of our work on offenders and victims.  That is something I am pleased partners are 
working to achieve. 

Safer Gloucestershire came into fruition because the county’s leaders acknowledged 
community safety had fallen down the agenda and needed revitalising.  That is not to say our 
local CSPs weren’t doing a good job, but the county lacked a co-ordinated countywide approach 
to dealing with some key issues.   As members of Safer Gloucestershire, we recognise we all 
have a role to play to community safety.  We know that tackling crime and disorder is not and 
should not be the sole responsibility of the police.  Through working together with county wide 
agencies and, in support of our district CSPs, we can and should make some real differences to 
the quality of life of the public we serve. 

An early success for the Safer Gloucestershire Board is around Domestic Homicide Reviews 
(DHR).  The partnership has developed new systems to support local reviews, providing 
training, guidance and an accredited list of DHR chairs. I am hopeful we can learn some real 
lessons from DHRs going forward and the board will be looking to share learning with others: 
locally, regionally and nationally. 

Safer Gloucestershire needs to help support the work of the local CSPs, sharing information 
and data, supporting with knowledge and guidance, but also listening and responding when 
there is a need for a county-wide approach to an issue. This relationship is key to the future 
success of Safer Gloucestershire, as is relationships with other partnerships not least the Health 
& Well Being Board.  It is crucial that the two boards work closer together and I am committed to 
ensuring this relationship continues to develop. 

As members of Safer Gloucestershire, we are committed to the approach outlined in this 
document, which I believe needs to be flexible, adaptable and dynamic to deal with an ever 
changing, cross cutting field of community safety.

Deputy Police & Crime Commissioner
Chair Safer Gloucestershire Board

Page 37

https://www.cps.gov.uk/legal-guidance/domestic-homicide-review#_blank


3 | P a g e

1. Background
Gloucestershire is one of the safest counties in England and Wales in terms of crime and 
disorder.1  However, like many localities, it is also facing the combined challenges of constraints 
in funding and resources alongside increases in some crime types and demand pressures.  The 
nature of criminality is also becoming more complex with new forms of criminality and 
exploitation of the vulnerable emerging alongside more traditional forms.

The Crime and Disorder Act 1998 led to the creation of Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs) 
in each local authority area. This approach acknowledged that tackling crime and disorder 
issues require a ‘whole system’ response.  In Gloucestershire, whilst the statutory CSP 
responsibility rests with the District Councils and responsible authorities* identified within the 
Act, there is a recognition of the need for a countywide approach that builds on that capacity. 
Safer Gloucestershire was established in July 2017 with the aim of ensuring a coherent, 
strategic approach to the delivery of community safety activity in Gloucestershire. 

This strategy builds on a review of the county approach to Community safety 20162 and further 
dialogue initiated by the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC).

2. Safer Gloucestershire Partners
Safer Gloucestershire aims to complement & support existing CSP capacity at a district level 
and comprises of senior representatives from:

 Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service*

 Gloucestershire County Council* 
 Cheltenham Borough Council*
 Gloucester City Council*
 Tewkesbury Borough Council*
 Cotswold District Council*
 Forest of Dean District Council*
 Stroud District Council* 
 Police and Crime Commissioner

 Gloucestershire Constabulary* 
 Voluntary Sector
 Gloucestershire Clinical 

Commissioning Group*
 Public Health
 2gether NHS Foundation Trust
 National Probation Service*
 Community Rehabilitation Company* 
 Youth Offending Team

* Responsible authority members Crime & Disorder Act 1998 

Safer Gloucestershire is chaired by the Deputy Police and Crime Commissioner and meets on a 
quarterly basis.  It is supported by a Secretariat (Development and Delivery Group) which meets 
8 times a year – either side of the Safer Gloucestershire meetings in order to drive the business.  
It is chaired by the Director of Partnerships and Strategy: GCC Children’s Services, who also 
attends Safer Gloucestershire.

1 Crime in England and Wales, year ending September 2018: Office for National Statistics (ONS)
2 Review of Community Safety in Gloucestershire – J. Benstead & R. Bradley

Page 38



4 | P a g e

3. Key Priorities
In April 2018 Safer Gloucestershire undertook a Strategic Needs Assessment (SNA) utilising 
expertise and capacity within GCC’s Public Health Team as the basis for future planning and 
delivery.   The SNA provides a solid evidential basis for planning and delivery of community 
safety activity at County, District, thematic and cohort levels. This identified six priority areas:

 Locality based crime
 Social isolation* (*priority shared with 

Health and Wellbeing Board)
 Safeguarding children
 Substance/alcohol misuse

 Domestic abuse/sexual violence
 Violence, Vulnerability and 

Exploitation – (including County 
Lines, Modern Slavery and Human 
Trafficking)

Each of the priorities is set out in an action plan which will be subject to regular review and 
refresh over the life of this strategy. Informed by the learning from ACEs,  our response will be 
trauma-informed, restorative and strengths based by building upon existing individual, 
community and agency capacity  Our twin aims are to promote desistance from offending and 
reduce victimisation, particularly of the most vulnerable in our community. It is acknowledged 
that a considerable part of Year 1 (2019/20) will involve establishing the capacity, data flows 
and business processes to enable Safer Gloucestershire to realise its ambitions.  We will also 
take a phased approach to the key priorities informed by our Needs Assessment and 
performance data.

4. Our Approach
Having been in place for over 12 months, it is timely to take stock of progress and set out how 
Safer Gloucestershire will contribute towards improved community safety for all citizens of 
Gloucestershire, particularly the most vulnerable.   

This strategy reflects the views of the District Councils, local partners and responsible 
authorities* as determined in the Crime and Disorder Act.  It is further informed by the local 
approach towards Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) and how the insights this provides 
can influence our collective response to both adults and children3.  Recent research indicates 
that rule breaking behaviour and the involvement in criminal offending by young people is very 
widespread; a routine rather than aberrant diversion of individual development and, moreover, 
that the young people involved in persistent serious offending are also the most vulnerable4.

Operating within the wider network of agencies and thematic community safety processes, the 
role of Safer Gloucestershire will be to:

 Create ‘a consensus of leadership’ for community safety working with district CSPs and 
county wide statutory and non statutory agencies.  This reflects a distributive approach 
towards leadership, extending beyond single agency boundaries.

 Provide greater clarity about the role of agencies and collaborative problem solving within an 
increasingly complex operating landscape.

 Ensure a streamlined approach to intelligence sharing and service provision reducing 
duplication and improving outcomes

3 Gloucestershire ACEs Strategy 2018-2021
4 Child Friendly Justice?  National Association for Youth Justice (NAYJ:2017)

Page 39



5 | P a g e

 Develop a consistent multi-agency county wide response to cross cutting themes such as 
violent crime, domestic abuse, criminal exploitation, child sexual exploitation, radicalisation, 
FGM, honour based violence, forced marriage etc. – encompassing, prevention, diversion, 
disruption and prosecution activity.

 Identify opportunities for joint commissioning, collaboration and working informed by an 
exhaustive, collective appreciation of the challenges and risks to the safety of 
Gloucestershire citizens.

 Improve communications and positive engagement across the safer communities’ agenda.

In practice this will involve a ‘layered’ approach informed by a shared appreciation of key issues 
and whether they are most effectively addressed at County or District levels, each informing and 
influencing the other.  As an example, anti-social behaviour will usually follow a multi-agency 
locality based model; however, it will need to align with countywide strategies to avoid different 
outcomes for perpetrators and victims.  There is a need to ‘rewire’ the system to ensure the 
collective oversight of the effectiveness of key thematic and cohort management activity and 
respond accordingly.  

The table below illustrates a brief summary of the broad division of activity going on currently in 
the county: (more detailed information is contained in the action plan).

Operating Layer Key Issues In scope

Strategic (Countywide 
activity)

Is there a consensus on those 
issues best driven at county 
level? 

Is there an agreed and effective 
approach for each?

 Violent crime (including 
knife crime)

 County lines, modern 
slavery, human trafficking

 Radicalisation
 Domestic Abuse and 

Sexual Violence
 Drug and Alcohol
 Youth Crime
 Female Genital Mutilation 

(FGM)
 Honour Based Violence 

(HBV)
 Forced Marriage
 Criminal Exploitation
 Child Sexual Exploitation 

(CSE)

Intermediary (Managing 
Key Cohorts  ‘gripping the 
system’)

Do partners have a collective 
appreciation of the most 
vulnerable/impactive individuals 
(adults and children)?

Are collective 
thematic/cohort/management 
arrangements effective in 
reducing risk, vulnerability, 
offending and victimisation?

 Integrated Offender 
Management (IOM)

 Multi Agency Criminal 
Exploitation (MACE)

 Multi Agency Public 
Protection Arrangements 
(MAPPA)

 Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference 
(MARAC)

 Management of Sexual 
Offenders and Violent 
Offenders (MOSOVO)

Page 40



6 | P a g e

Operating Layer Key Issues In scope

 Independent Domestic 
Abuse/Sexual Violence 
Advocates (IDVA/ISVA)

 Sexual Abuse Referral 
Centre (SARC)

District (locality activity) Is there a consensus on those 
issues best driven at a locality 
level?  

Is there an alignment/dissonance 
with countywide strategy?

 Anti-social behaviour
 Environmental Crime
 Rural Crime
 Social Isolation and 

Vulnerable citizens

5. The Police & Crime Commissioner
The remit of the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCCs) extends beyond the world of policing, 
into crime prevention and engaging with those agencies that have a major role in this. PCCs 
have a duty to co-operate with the core agencies that make up community safety partnerships 
(CSPs) to reduce crime and disorder. There is also a reciprocal duty on those core agencies to 
work through their CSPs with the PCC.  The Police and Crime Commissioner’s Strategy for 
Gloucestershire is set out within the Police and Crime Plan 2017-2021.

The current plan sets out the following priorities for policing in Gloucestershire;
 Accessibility and accountability.
 Older but not overlooked.
 Safer days and nights.

 Young people becoming adults.
 Safe and social driving.
 Safer cyber.

The six main priorities of the Police & Crime plan are also supported with two other approaches 
namely “a Compassionate Approach” and “a Green & Pleasant county”. 

The Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) is able to provide support and engage effectively 
with the crime & disorder landscape, affecting not only policing but all criminal justice agencies, 
local government, health services and the voluntary & community sector. The PCC has also the 
ability to commission community safety services and, to provide grants to support related 
activity. 

6. Links with the Wider System
Safer Gloucestershire is not a statutory body as the duties set out in the Crime and Disorder Act 
rest with the local authorities*.  But as acknowledged by Leadership Gloucestershire there is a 
need for a board to provide context and coordination of effort for community safety activity and 
contributes towards the wider system of governance and delivery in improving outcomes for 
Gloucestershire citizens.  This acknowledges the cross-cutting nature of some key challenges 
such as substance misuse, domestic abuse and complex child and adult safeguarding.  The 
links between Safer Gloucestershire, the Health and Wellbeing Board and Child, Adult 
Safeguarding arrangements are set out in Appendix 1.

Page 41



7 | P a g e

Health and Wellbeing Boards were established under the Health and Social Care Act 2012 in 
order to provide a forum through which strategic leaders from the local health and care system 
can improve the health and wellbeing of their local population.  At a local level, Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Board fulfil this role and are concerned with the health and wellbeing of 
the whole population (adults and children) of Gloucestershire.  It plays a further important role in 
developing a more strategic and integrated approach towards commissioning that seeks to 
make best use of scarce resources whilst improving outcomes for citizens.

The Health and Wellbeing Board recently agreed its priorities which are set out below and 
acknowledged the overlap with the work of Safer Gloucestershire which is concerned with the 
safety of the whole population (adults and children).

 Physical Activity
 Adverse Childhood Experiences 

(ACEs)
 Mental Wellbeing

 Social Isolation/loneliness
 Healthy Lifestyles
 Early years/Best start in life
 Housing

A further significant change will shortly be introduced through Working Together 2018 which will 
place ‘a shared and equal duty’ on the three child safeguarding partners in a local authority 
area.  These requirements will apply to the County of Gloucestershire, with the safeguarding 
partners being:

 Gloucestershire County Council
 Gloucestershire Constabulary
 NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group

It is intended that Gloucestershire will publish its revised child safeguarding arrangements in 
April 2019, with full implementation by July 2019.

Issues such as domestic abuse, mental health, substance misuse and criminal exploitation 
engage both the health and wellbeing and community safety agendas.  They are often key 
drivers for adult and child safeguarding with all that implies for the commissioning and delivery 
of services.   As an example, whilst the commissioning of psycho-social interventions for 
domestic abuse and treatment pathways for substance misuse will be led by Public Health 
partners, Safer Gloucestershire also has an interest as ‘system influencer’.   This acknowledges 
the co-morbidity of vulnerability and risk and the need to consider a wider range of outcomes 
beyond an immediate focus on safety or health and wellbeing.  

In broad terms Health and Wellbeing board is leading on the ‘healthy and happy’ aspects of the 
local multi-agency vison for Gloucestershire, whilst Safer Gloucestershire is leading on the 
‘safer’ aspects.  

The table below illustrates how the two agendas complement and interact with a fluidity of role 
in respect of system leadership as ‘driver’ or ‘influencer’ depending upon the nature of the issue 
to hand.

Page 42



8 | P a g e

Theme Health & Wellbeing 
Board

Safeguarding Arrangements 
(Child and Adult)

Safer Gloucestershire 
(District CSPs)

D
om

es
tic

 A
bu

se

DRIVER: 
 Concerned with health 

and welfare outcomes 
for service users

 Mobilising the wider 
partnership

See footnote below 5

Is there a reduction in adverse 
impacts on children, young 
people and vulnerable adults?

Is parental capacity   
increased?

Do services acknowledge the 
potential for children to become 
perpetrators?

INFLUENCER:
Are services contributing 
to reductions in offending 
and repeat victimisation?

Oversight of multi-agency 
case management and 
offender   oversight 
(MARAC Steering Group) 

Su
bs

ta
nc

e/
A

lc
oh

ol
M

is
us

e

DRIVER:
 Concerned with 

successful treatment 
completions

 Wider health & 
wellbeing   outcomes

Are treatment pathways 
acknowledging parental/ carer 
responsibilities?

Is the situation of the children 
of substance misusing 
parents/carers improved?

INFLUENCER:
Are treatment pathways 
contributing to desistance 
of offending where this is 
an issue?

Are criminal justice and 
treatment pathways 
aligned where 
appropriate?

A
nt

i-S
oc

ia
l B

eh
av

io
ur

/ C
rim

in
al

ity

INFLUENCER:
 Do local ASB/Crime 

approaches protect the 
most vulnerable?

 Is there an awareness 
of ACEs and co-
morbidity of risk/ 
vulnerability within 
interventions to tackle 
crime, disorder and 
ASB? 

 Is there evidence that 
the most vulnerable are 
over represented in the 
criminal justice 
system?

Do local strategies seek to 
avoid first time       entrants 
wherever      appropriate?

Is there equity of provision for 
young people across 
Gloucestershire?

Are children and young people 
being unnecessarily detained 
in custody?

Are we assured about the 
effectiveness of SARC/ ISVA 
for children/young people?

Are vulnerable adults 
sufficiently protected?

Are vulnerable adults over 
represented in the Criminal 
Justice System?

Are individuals or communities 
at high risk of victimisation 
being supported? 

DRIVER:
 Youth Justice Strategy

 Collective oversight of 
cohort/thematic 
management 
arrangements

 Criminal Exploitation

 Violent Crime Strategy

5 The H&WB Board are listed as a driver of these areas as they are the lead partnership body under 
which these services are commissioned’

Page 43



9 | P a g e

7.  Safer Gloucestershire Secretariat 
In order to support the work of Safer Gloucestershire, a Secretariat (Development and Delivery 
Group) comprising of key representatives from the districts and partner agencies has been 
established to drive the business forward. The Secretariat will act as the ‘engine room’ by 
facilitating an annual cycle of assessment, planning, delivery and evaluation within the context 
of this strategy.  It will also function as the intermediary between the wide range of multi-agency 
groups and processes and Safer Gloucestershire to enable the latter to have an ‘increasingly 
rich picture’ of community safety activity across Gloucestershire and its effectiveness.  The 
Secretariat will, in turn, be supported by a back office team of officers from GCC and OPCC, 
including a Policy Officer dedicated 2 days per week to this activity and full-time Violent Crime 
Co-ordinator.

It is acknowledged that the Secretariat is not yet sufficiently established to realise this approach 
and that a period of development and implementation will be needed if the general direction of 
travel is agreed.  In the immediate term, it is proposed to focus on:

 A stocktake of existing safer communities’ activity in order to establish a firm baseline of 
reach and effectiveness to inform future development.

 Refresh of the community strategy needs assessment and joint working protocol to 
encompass workflow and its oversight.

 Developing a data dashboard aligned with key priorities to enable Safer Gloucestershire to 
test the efficacy of current arrangements.

 Developing a strategy and action plan for 2019 onwards based on the priorities    identified 
in the Strategic Needs Assessment.

8. ‘Gripping the System’ – multi-agency oversight of key themes 
and cohorts

Across Gloucestershire there are a diverse range of multi-agency boards and case 
management processes which have the aim of ensuring that key thematic challenges and 
individuals/cohorts presenting particular risks and vulnerabilities are effectively managed or 
supported.  There is a consensus that current arrangements do not allow for a collective 
strategic overview of the impact of much of this activity.  A key ambition for the development of 
Safer Gloucestershire in this respect is to enable partners to address the following:

 Do we have a collective appreciation of the most vulnerable/risky adults, children & 
communities in Gloucestershire?

 Is there evidence of key interventions (prevention, diversion, disruption and prosecution) 
reducing their levels of vulnerability, risk, victimisation and offending?

 What steps are needed to take to improve those interventions and their impact?

Safer Gloucestershire has a key role to play in providing a strategic coordinating mechanism to 
ensure that this wider range of activity is coherent and effective and that those groups and 
processes have a strategic outlet for their concerns.  It is important to note that this role is about 
strategic oversight, assurance and whole system development, not case management which will 
remain with the relevant groups.  

Page 44



10 | P a g e

However, as these arrangements mature the aspiration would be to develop an integrated 
approach towards those issues in which research suggests are inherently linked and best 
tackled through a blended approach, which for example, involves a single community safety – 
violence, vulnerability and exploitation strategy as opposed to a range of strategies addressing 
each individually.  This reflects the direction of travel for national policy. The forthcoming 
changes to child safeguarding also provide the opportunity for the development of a multi-
agency panel approach towards vulnerable adolescents as a focal point for the most high risk 
cases in the county.

Summarised below are the range of existing groups and processes linking with Safer 
Gloucestershire:

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (DASV) Commissioning Group

Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence pose significant challenges for Gloucestershire and are 
key drivers for our collective safeguarding work. The DASV Commissioning Group is a multi-
agency group comprising of representatives from Gloucestershire Constabulary, Office of the 
Police and Crime Commissioner, Gloucestershire County Council (Public Health and Children’s 
Services), Community Rehabilitation Company and Clinical Commissioning Group. It is 
supported by a DASV Implementation Group which acts as an information network bringing 
together a wide range of organisation working on this agenda.  A Commissioning Strategy and 
Outcomes Framework 2014-2018, informed by a local needs assessment, provide the 
framework for local activity.  Central Government has recently published its proposals for 
‘Transforming the Response to Domestic Abuse’ which will broaden the definition of domestic 
abuse supported by statutory guidance.  The proposals, when published, will inform the refresh 
on the Commissioning Strategy and Outcomes Framework.

In order to ensure a consistent approach across Gloucestershire, a countywide Domestic 
Homicide Review (DHR) Protocol has been introduced under the auspices of Safer 
Gloucestershire.  This involves Safer Gloucestershire supporting the district CSPs in 
establishing the need for a DHR, appointment of the independent author/chair, monitoring 
progress with the review process and holding agencies to account for their recommendations 
and actions.  Once a DHR is complete and published, Safer Gloucestershire will take the lead 
on holding agencies to account in implementing the DHR action plan/recommendations, 
supporting in the development of task groups as necessary. This new model includes a financial 
agreement between Districts and OPCC to fund DHRs and the funding for specialist advocacy 
support for families. 

There are a range of services funded by partners including:

 Gloucestershire Domestic Abuse Support Service (GDASS)
 Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVA)
 Independent Sexual Violence Advisors (ISVA)
 Sexual Assault Referral Centre (SARC)
 Independent Stalking Advocacy Caseworker (ISAC)
 Voluntary DA Perpetrators Programme – Positive Relationships Gloucestershire
 Young Persons DA Support Service

Sexual Violence Partnership Board

The Sexual Violence Partnership Board has recently been established to ensure a cohesive 
multi-agency approach towards sexual violence in Gloucestershire.  It will support delivery 
against the local strategy and strategic decision for the for sexual assault and abuse services. It 
meets on a quarterly basis and will report to safer Gloucestershire. 

Page 45



11 | P a g e

Community Safety Partnerships (CSPs)/Local Forums

The six district councils in Gloucestershire each have a Community Safety Partnership (or 
equivalent) to meet its obligations under the Crime and Disorder Act.  A number have a wider 
remit than community safety.

The relationship between the CSPs and Safer Gloucestershire is one of consultation and co-
ordination rather than command and control. This acknowledges that whilst the statutory duty 
risk is at a district/locality level, many of our key challenges are best tackled by agencies 
structured on a County level. Action at local level can also impact across the system, with the 
need to ensure an aligned approach that delivers consistent outcomes for perpetrators and 
victims. There are a number of key themes emerging from the dialogue with CSPs that have 
informed the strategy:

This is a reciprocal relationship in which County and locality activity is seen as complementary 
and of mutual benefit.

There is a need for broad alignment with Safer Gloucestershire strategic priorities, however, 
there will also be local priorities developed by the CSPs.

The CSPs will need support from Safer Gloucestershire in terms of key crime/ASB data and 
management information around community safety activity disaggregated to locality level in 
order to inform the local cycle of assessment, planning and delivery.

Gloucestershire Criminal Justice Board

The purpose of the local Criminal Justice Board is to work strategically across agencies in order 
to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of the criminal justice system in the county, with a 
particular emphasis on victims and witnesses.  Gloucestershire’s LCJB operates as a voluntary 
partnership, chaired by the PCC, and draws together representatives from Gloucestershire 
Constabulary, Crown Prosecution Service, Her Majesty’s Courts and Tribunals Service, Youth 
Offending services and the Legal Aid Agency.  

Reducing Reoffending and Rehabilitation Group

This is a multi-agency strategic group with responsibility for oversight of the range of services 
for offenders in Gloucestershire.  It reports to the Gloucestershire Criminal Justice Board 
(GCJB) via a quarterly reporting mechanism and is, in turn, informed by Integrated Offender 
Management, Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements and Managing sexual offenders 
and violent offenders arrangements. 

Integrated Offender Management Board. 

The Integrated Offender Management programme aims to identify the most persistent and 
problematic offenders and ensure they are managed to desist from offending or secure their 
early conviction to protect the community.  The IOM Board is led by police on a multi-`agency 
basis and is responsible for the oversight of local IOM arrangements and their effectiveness.  It 
also seeks to influence the wider system around those factors which contribute to desistance or 
further offending. 

Page 46



12 | P a g e

Gloucestershire Youth Justice Partnership Board

Youth Offending Teams were established by the Crime and Disorder Act (1998) on a multi-
agency basis and charged with the responsibility for the local delivery of effective youth justice 
provision.  The local authority, in this case Gloucestershire County Council, is the accountable 
body for ensuring that the statutory partners - education, police, health and National Probation 
Service contribute to local arrangements.  There is also a requirement to have a Youth Justice 
Plan setting out key aims and objectives, alongside progress in tackling key issues such as first 
time entrants, re-offending and the use of custody.  
Gloucestershire Youth Justice Board provides for multi-agency oversight of the effectiveness of 
youth justice provision and a link with the wider system of governance to ensure the health, 
educational, social and personal needs of young people known to the YOS are met.

Adult and Child Safeguarding Arrangements

The Adult and Child Safeguarding Boards are concerned with the effectiveness of local 
arrangements to safeguard, respectively, vulnerable adults and children and young people. The 
arrangements for adult safeguarding have recently been placed on a statutory footing by the 
Care Act 2014, which was enacted in 2015  The Children’s Board is established on a statutory 
basis by the Children Act 2004.  

During 2019 Gloucestershire will publish its revised arrangements for child safeguarding under 
Working Together 2018, which will place a shared and equal duty on Gloucestershire 
Constabulary, NHS Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group and Gloucestershire County 
Council for child safeguarding.  This provides the opportunity to further integrate health, local 
authority and policing activity where this relates to child safeguarding.

Serious and Organised Crime Partnership 

This is a multi-agency partnership led by police with the aim of developing a shared 
appreciation of threats, vulnerabilities and risks relating to organised crime.  Its work informs the 
targeting and use of resources alongside the mainstreaming of serious and organised crime into 
the wider system of local governance, commissioning and delivery. 

Hate Crime Multi Agency Strategic Group

This is a multi-agency partnership led by Gloucestershire County Council that aims to prevent 
incidents through education and awareness raising, ensure data is accurately recorded and 
used to inform interventions.  The Group also has oversight of activity to promote victim 
confidence in reporting and the provision of practical support to those who have experienced 
hate crime.

Anti-Slavery Partnership

The Anti-Slavery Partnership brings a range of statutory, non-statutory and voluntary sector 
agencies together in a concerted effort to tackle trafficking and slavery across Gloucestershire.  
The partnership has been focused on capacity building through intelligence collection, training 
and awareness raising and the development of emergency reception facilities for victims.

Page 47



13 | P a g e

Gloucestershire Prevent Partnership Board 

Prevent is a key part of the Government’s counter-terrorism strategy (Contest) which aims to 
stop people becoming radicalised into all forms of extremist ideology. The Prevent Partnership 
Board is established on a multi-agency basis and has oversight of the wide range of activity in 
this area, including Channel Panels.

Drug and Alcohol Working Group

This is a multi-agency network, led by Public Health, which links strategic and local level activity 
through the engagement of a broad range of partners with an interest in substance misuse and 
acts as a forum for information exchange.  It acts as a reference group for the commissioning of 
drug and alcohol services, linking with the wider system, acknowledging the link with child 
safeguarding, criminology and vulnerability of the service users. 

Restorative Gloucestershire

Restorative Gloucestershire is a group of statutory, non-statutory and voluntary sector partners 
that have joined with the aim of offering all people, who come into contact with the criminal 
justice system (CJS) or who come into conflict in the community, an opportunity to participate in 
a restorative intervention.

Multi-Agency Public Protection Arrangements (MAPPA) Strategic Board

This is a multi-agency board and MAPPA is the process through which the Police, Probation 
and Prison Services work together with other agencies to manage the risks posed by violent 
and sexual offenders living in the community in order to protect the public.

MAPPA Board is not a statutory body in itself but rather a mechanism through which agencies 
can better discharge their full statutory responsibilities and obligations.  Section 325(3) of the 
Criminal Justice Act 2003 requires the Responsible Authority to co-operate with a wider range of 
agencies including:

 Youth Offending Teams
 The Local Education Authority
 The Local Housing Authority
 Registered Social Landlords
 The Health Authority or Strategic 

Health Authority

 The Clinical Commissioning Group
 The NHS Trust
 Providers of electronic monitoring 

services
 Immigration Law Enforcement 

(formerly UKBA)

Multi-agency Children Exploitation (MACE) 

MACE is a multi-agency process that considers suspected or actual cases of Child Sexual 
Exploitation (CSE) and missing children.  The MACE meets on a fortnightly basis to ensure 
cases are well managed and co-ordinated and that all necessary actions are taken to protect 
victims.

Page 48



14 | P a g e

Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference Steering Group (MARAC)

A MARAC is a victim focused information sharing and risk management meeting bringing 
together key agencies to discuss high risk domestic abuse cases.  It seeks to deliver a range of 
outcomes, including increasing the safety and wellbeing of victims (adults and their children), 
developing a risk management plan, reducing repeat victimisation and improve interagency 
working.  The work of the MARAC is overseen by the Steering Group to ensure the process is 
effective.

Gloucestershire Stalking Clinic

The overall aim of the Gloucestershire Stalking Clinic is to reduce harm caused to victims by 
assessing and identifying risks and considering offender management. It is a multi-agency 
panel that meets monthly to review high risk stalking cases and provide a forum for information 
sharing, referral, consultation, case formulation, sign posting and risk assessment of stalking 
cases. It will provide advice and guidance to those professionals managing or investigating the 
stalking case to look to improve outcomes for victims and keep them safe.

9. Community Engagement
This strategy is underpinned by the learning from ACE’s, the increasing body of research 
identifying a co-morbidity of vulnerability and risk and takes a trauma informed approach to 
intervention and problem solving.  Taking a restorative approach will not be at the expense of 
victims or those at risk and a key element within this strategy will be to ensure that the voice of 
victims and engagement with victims’ groups are at the heart of our work.

The District CSPs play a pivotal role in engaging their local communities around this agenda, 
particularly around themes and localities of concern.  An ‘intensive engagement’ model has 
been piloted by CSP’s as a potential model for a sustainable for future engagement activity 
which will be explored as part of this strategy.  It is also aimed to improve the flow of information 
and data from county to locality levels to assist the District CSPs in developing a rich picture of 
their localities as the basis for future planning and delivery.  The OPCC also has a role to play in 
providing a public voice in policing.
  

10.  Monitoring and Review
This strategy and action plan will be subject to regular review by the Secretariat and refresh by 
the partner agencies working together as Safer Gloucestershire. It will continue to be informed 
by the learning from specific interventions and the various needs assessment feeding into the 
cycle of planning, delivery and evaluation.  The ultimate test will be reductions in offending, 
repeat victimisation and greater feelings of safety and security amongst Gloucestershire 
citizens, particularly the most vulnerable.

Page 49



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk

Appendix 1 Links with the wider system

P
age 50



Security classification: NO MARKING REQUIRED

www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk

Appendix 2 Glossary

ACEs Adverse Childhood Experiences

CSJ Criminal Justice System

CSE Child Sexual Exploitation

CSPs Community Safety Partnerships

DASV Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence

DHRs Domestic Homicide Reviews

FGM Female Genital Mutilation

GCC Gloucestershire County Council

HBV Honour Based Violence

IDVA/ISVA Independent Domestic Abuse/Sexual Violence Advocates

IOM Integrated Offender Management

ISAC Independent Stalking Advocacy Caseworker

MACE Multi Agency Criminal Exploitation

MAPPA Multi Agency Public Protection Arrangements

MARAC Multi Agency Risk Assessment Conference

MOSOVO Management of Sexual Offenders and Violent Offenders

OPCC Office of the Police & Crime Commissioner

SARC Sexual Abuse Referral Centre

SNA Strategic Needs Assessment

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e

Safer Gloucestershire Strategy Action Plan v2 : Work in progress

Aim : To ensure a coherent, strategic approach to the delivery of community safety activity in Gloucestershire

Priority No Priority Action Lead/Contributors Links with Strategies/guidance Timescale Impact/Outcomes Performance Measures

1.1 To finalise the Safer Gloucestershire 
Strategy and develop an action plan for 
2019 onwards based on the priorities 
identified in the Strategic Needs 
Assessment

Secretariat Year 1
Quarter 3

Providing a consistent 
approach towards 
community safety in 
Gloucestershire

1.2 To develop a 
Communications/Engagement Plan

Karen Taylor Year 1
Quarter 3

All diverse communities in 
Gloucestershire will have an 
awareness of the Strategy 
which will be delivered in a 
clear, concise format that will 
ensure accessibility

1.3 To undertake a stocktake of existing 
safer communities activity in order to 
establish a firm baseline to inform 
future development

Karen Taylor/
Heads of Service

Year 1
Quarter 3

Shared appreciation of the 
effectiveness of key safer 
community elements to 
inform future development

Se
cr

et
ar

ia
t

1.4 Develop a data dashboard aligned with 
key priorities to enable Safer 
Gloucestershire to test the efficacy of 
current arrangements

Secretariat Year 1
Quarter 3

Data will identify trends that 
can influence future decision-
making

1.5 Refresh the Community Strategic 
Needs Assessment and joint working 
protocol to encompass workflow and 
its oversight

GCC Data & Analysis 
Team/Public Health

Crime in England and Wales, year ending 
September 2018: Office for National 
Statistics (ONS)
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulatio
nandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins
/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingsept
ember2018

Review of Community Safety in 
Gloucestershire
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/doc
uments/s36119/GCSR%20Final%20Report
%20-%20Version%207.pdf

Crime & Disorder Act 1998
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/199
8/37/contents

Gloucestershire ACEs Strategy 2018-2021
https://www.actionaces.org/wp-
content/uploads/2018/11/Final-long-
strategy-references-7-nov.pdf

Child Friendly Justice?  National 
Association for Youth Justice (NAYJ:2017)
http://thenayj.org.uk/campaigns-and-
publications-2/

Police & Crime Plan 2017 – 2021
https://www.gloucestershire-
pcc.gov.uk/police-and-crime-plan-
priorities/

Strategic Needs Assessment 2018
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/medi
a/1520660/overview.pdf

Year 1
Quarter 4

Evidential base for planning 
and delivery of community 
safety activity at County, 
District, thematic and cohort 
levels

P
age 53

https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingseptember2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingseptember2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingseptember2018
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/bulletins/crimeinenglandandwales/yearendingseptember2018
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s36119/GCSR%20Final%20Report%20-%20Version%207.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s36119/GCSR%20Final%20Report%20-%20Version%207.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s36119/GCSR%20Final%20Report%20-%20Version%207.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1998/37/contents
https://www.actionaces.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Final-long-strategy-references-7-nov.pdf
https://www.actionaces.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Final-long-strategy-references-7-nov.pdf
https://www.actionaces.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Final-long-strategy-references-7-nov.pdf
http://thenayj.org.uk/campaigns-and-publications-2/
http://thenayj.org.uk/campaigns-and-publications-2/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/police-and-crime-plan-priorities/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/police-and-crime-plan-priorities/
https://www.gloucestershire-pcc.gov.uk/police-and-crime-plan-priorities/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/1520660/overview.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/1520660/overview.pdf


2 | P a g e

Priority No Priority Action Lead/Contributors Links with Strategies/guidance Timescale Impact/Outcomes Performance Measures

2.1 Criminal exploitation of vulnerable 
adults and children in the Moors, 
Cheltenham

Tracy Brown/
Cheltenham CSP

Reduced in that locality and 
wider system learning for 
county

2.2 Community harm in the Lower High 
Street of Cheltenham

Tracy Brown/
Cheltenham CSP

Reduced in that locality and 
wider system learning for 
county

2.3 Sexual violence in the night time 
economy especially during Cheltenham 
Race week

Tracy Brown/
Cheltenham CSP

Reduced in that locality and 
wider system learning for 
county

2.4 Introduce an Anti-social Behaviour and 
Social Behaviour toolkit for vulnerable 
adults and children

District CSPs Reduced Anti-social 
Behaviour

Reduced criminalisation of 
vulnerable adults and 
children

2.5 Gloucester City Centre – addressing 
youth anti-social behaviour and 
safeguarding vulnerable young people.

Anne Brinkhoff/
Gloucester CSP/
Emma Savage, CCG

From May 2019 
– Year 1 Quarter 
4

Co-produced initiatives - 
reflect on learning to 
evaluate practice as 
commissioners

2.6 Gloucester Park - increase the safety 
and attractiveness of the park, work in 
a strengths based way to increase 
positive uses of the park and overcome 
negative ones.

Anne Brinkhoff/
Victim Support/
Gloucester CSP

Reviewed after 
1 year – Year 1 
Quarter 4

Reduction in incidents in 
Gloucester Park and 
increased positive action

Lo
ca

lit
y 

ba
se

d 
cr

im
e

2.7 Street Aware – addressing street based 
nuisance in Gloucester City centre. 
Work in partnership to reduce begging, 
street drinking and youth ASB with 
increased levels of engagement and 
support.

Anne Brinkhoff/
Louise Boyle, 
Gloucester CSP

https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/62/
community_safety_and_crime

https://www.stroud.gov.uk/community-
and-living/community-safety-and-
neighbourhood-wardens/stroud-district-
community-safety-partnership-strategy-
2017-2021

https://www.fdean.gov.uk/residents/com
munities/community-safety/community-
safety-partnership/

https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/community
-safety/community-safety-partnership/

https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/commun
ity

Monthly 
meetings, 
reports to SSGP 
will be prior to 
each meeting

Reduction in incidents of ASB 
in City Centre (from police 
data), reduction in numbers 
of individuals being 
monitored by Street Aware

P
age 54

https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/62/community_safety_and_crime
https://www.cheltenham.gov.uk/info/62/community_safety_and_crime
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/community-and-living/community-safety-and-neighbourhood-wardens/stroud-district-community-safety-partnership-strategy-2017-2021
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/community-and-living/community-safety-and-neighbourhood-wardens/stroud-district-community-safety-partnership-strategy-2017-2021
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/community-and-living/community-safety-and-neighbourhood-wardens/stroud-district-community-safety-partnership-strategy-2017-2021
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/community-and-living/community-safety-and-neighbourhood-wardens/stroud-district-community-safety-partnership-strategy-2017-2021
https://www.stroud.gov.uk/community-and-living/community-safety-and-neighbourhood-wardens/stroud-district-community-safety-partnership-strategy-2017-2021
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/residents/communities/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/residents/communities/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.fdean.gov.uk/residents/communities/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.cotswold.gov.uk/community-safety/community-safety-partnership/
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/community
https://www.tewkesbury.gov.uk/community


3 | P a g e

Priority No Priority Action Lead/Contributors Links with Strategies/guidance Timescale Impact/Outcomes Performance Measures

3.1 Reduce the number of children/young 
people excluded and at risk of exclusion 
in Cheltenham

Tracy Brown/
Cheltenham CSP

Shared appreciation of the 
excluded children in 
Gloucestershire through 
collective action

3.2 Review intensive engagement work 
undertaken by district Community 
Safety Partnerships

District CSPs Better understanding of 
community connect and 
feelings/perceptions of 
safety, crime and 
victimisation

So
ci

al
 Is

ol
at

io
n

3.3 Develop an information sharing and 
case management approach which will 
identify the most vulnerable adults at 
risk of exploitation

TBC

Exclusion from maintained schools, 
academies and pupil referral units in 
England

Criminal exploitation of children and 
vulnerable adults: county lines

Shared appreciation of the 
most vulnerable adults and 
children in Gloucestershire 
through collective action

Sa
fe

gu
ar

di
ng

 C
hi

ld
re

n 4.1 Develop an information sharing and 
case management approach which will 
identify the most vulnerable children 
and young people at risk of exploitation

TBC Working together to safeguard children 
2018

Gloucestershire Safeguarding 
Arrangements 
https://www.gscb.org.uk/

Shared appreciation of the 
most vulnerable adults and 
children in Gloucestershire 
through collective action

Su
bs

ta
nc

e/
al

co
ho

l m
isu

se

5.1 Undertake a deep dive of substance 
misuse policy landscape, 
need/prevalence and service provision 
in Gloucestershire to inform future 
strategy and commissioning. This will 
include specific focus on: County Lines, 
blood borne viruses, parental 
substance misuse, co-existing 
substance misuse and mental health 
conditions and complex cases

Jennifer Taylor/
Steve O’Neill

Gloucestershire Prevention, Wellbeing and 
Communities Business Plan
/media/219404/pwc-plan-on-a-page-
2018-2021final.docx

Ensuring joined up and 
assertive treatment and 
support for those with 
complex lives (incl. substance 
misuse, mental health, 
housing, other vulnerability)

Learning from and reducing 
drug related deaths

Protecting vulnerable people 
from exploitation by 
dangerous drugs networks

P
age 55

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/641418/20170831_Exclusion_Stat_guidance_Web_version.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/641418/20170831_Exclusion_Stat_guidance_Web_version.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/641418/20170831_Exclusion_Stat_guidance_Web_version.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/741194/HOCountyLinesGuidanceSept2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/741194/HOCountyLinesGuidanceSept2018.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779401/Working_Together_to_Safeguard-Children.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/779401/Working_Together_to_Safeguard-Children.pdf
https://www.gscb.org.uk/
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/219404/pwc-plan-on-a-page-2018-2021final.docx
https://staffnet.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/219404/pwc-plan-on-a-page-2018-2021final.docx


4 | P a g e

Priority No Priority Action Lead/Contributors Links with Strategies/guidance Timescale Impact/Outcomes Performance Measures

6.1 Lead on publication and dissemination 
of lessons learnt from DHRs

County DASV 
Strategic Co-
ordinator

6.2 Monitor the implementation of 
recommendations and action plans for 
DHRs; holding agencies to account and 
supporting the development of any 
countywide multi-agency changes to 
process in line with learning

County DASV 
Strategic Co-
ordinator

6.3 Review annually the local DHR protocol 
and funding arrangements

County DASV 
Strategic Co-
ordinator

Year 2 Quarter 1
June 2020

Do
m

es
tic

 a
bu

se
/s

ex
ua

l v
io

le
nc

e

6.4 Maintain an awareness of the DASV 
agenda and opportunities for Safer 
Gloucestershire to support  any 
countywide development

County DASV 
Strategic Co-
ordinator

Commissioning Strategy and Outcomes 
Framework 2014-2018
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/medi
a/2674/dasv_commissioning_strategy_oct
ober_14_hwbb_approved-66999.pdf

‘Transforming the Response to Domestic 
Abuse’ 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publicat
ions/domestic-abuse-consultation-
response-and-draft-bill

Countywide Domestic Homicide Review 
(DHR) Protocol
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/medi
a/2674/dasv_commissioning_strategy_oct
ober_14_hwbb_approved-66999.pdf

Criminal Justice Act 2003
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/200
3/44/contents

7.1 Develop a communications approach to 
changing social norms around 
behavioural rules and expectations 
within a defined social group in relation 
to violence by developing  an outward 
facing, multi-agency media campaign

Sophie Jarrett

7.2 Pilot a community strengths based 
approach, evaluate and share learning

Sophie Jarrett

Vi
ol

en
ce

, v
ul

ne
ra

bi
lit

y 
an

d 
ex

pl
oi

ta
tio

n 
(in

cl
ud

in
g 

co
un

ty
 

lin
es

,  
m

od
er

n 
sla

ve
ry

 a
nd

 h
um

an
 tr

af
fic

ki
ng

7.3 Work with partners and communities 
to articulate and promote a vision for 
violence prevention in Gloucestershire 
and further develop mapping to 
provide a better understand of links 
across strategies and partnerships

Sophie Jarrett

https://www.gov.uk/government/collectio
ns/modern-slavery

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/g
overnment/uploads/system/uploads/attac
hment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-
strategy.pdf

https://www.gov.uk/government/publicat
ions/a-public-health-approach-to-
violence-prevention-in-england 

P
age 56

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2674/dasv_commissioning_strategy_october_14_hwbb_approved-66999.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2674/dasv_commissioning_strategy_october_14_hwbb_approved-66999.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2674/dasv_commissioning_strategy_october_14_hwbb_approved-66999.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-consultation-response-and-draft-bill
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-consultation-response-and-draft-bill
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/domestic-abuse-consultation-response-and-draft-bill
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2674/dasv_commissioning_strategy_october_14_hwbb_approved-66999.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2674/dasv_commissioning_strategy_october_14_hwbb_approved-66999.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2674/dasv_commissioning_strategy_october_14_hwbb_approved-66999.pdf
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/44/contents
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/44/contents
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/modern-slavery
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/modern-slavery
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/698009/serious-violence-strategy.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-public-health-approach-to-violence-prevention-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-public-health-approach-to-violence-prevention-in-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/a-public-health-approach-to-violence-prevention-in-england


5 | P a g e

Priority No Priority Action Lead/Contributors Links with Strategies/guidance Timescale Impact/Outcomes Performance Measures

7.4 Develop multiagency approaches to 
promoting individual and community 
resilience as strengths based approach 
to violence prevention

Sophie Jarrett

7.5 Make recommendations on an 
evidence based approach and provide 
guidance and support to the Safer 
Gloucestershire partnership 

 

Sophie Jarrett

P
age 57



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report title Developing a shared vision/plan for all children and young 
people in Gloucestershire

Item for
decision or 
information?

Information and decision

Sponsor Chris Spencer: Director of Childrens Services
Author Andy Dempsey: Director of Partnerships and Strategy
Organisation Gloucestershire County Council Childrens Services and its 

partners
Key Issues:

1. In July 2018 the Health and Wellbeing Board considered a paper setting out a 
Children’s, Young People and Families Partnership Framework in order to 
provide a structure within which the wide and diverse range of activity for 
children and young people, both universal and targeted, within 
Gloucestershire could develop.  This initiative acknowledged the roles and 
responsibilities of the Director of Children’s Services (DCS) and Lead Member 
for Children’s Services (LMCS)1 and the continuing duty placed on Local 
Authorities under Section 10 Children Act (2004): which requires: 

‘each Local Authority to make arrangements to promote co-operation between 
the authority, each of the authority’s relevant partners and such other person 
or bodies, working with children in the local authority’s area, as the authority 
consider appropriate.  The arrangements are to be made with a view to 
improving the well-being of children in the authority’s area – which includes 
protection from harm or neglect alongside other outcomes’.

2. This is distinct from the duties under Section 11 of the 2004 Act for local 
agencies to make arrangements for ensuring that the function, and services 
provided on their behalf, are discharged having regard to the need to 
safeguard and promote the welfare of children.  These arrangements were 
previously delivered by Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Board (GSCB) 
but will henceforth be delivered by Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children 
Executive (GSCE) supported by a Delivery Board and a range of thematic sub 
groups, which together represent our response to the requirements of 
Working Together 2018.2 The changes flow from amendments to the Children 
Act 2004 introduced by the Children and Social Work Act 2017.

3. As part of the transition from the GSCB to the new child safeguarding 
arrangements, partners explored whether they could also encompass the 
well-being of children (Section 10) alongside their primary focus on the 
efficacy (or otherwise) of collective arrangements to safeguard and promote 
the welfare of children and young people.  Acknowledging that historical child 
safeguarding had not been particularly effective, the three Safeguarding 
Partners (GCC, Gloucestershire Constabulary and NHS Gloucestershire 
CCG) considered that well-being should remain within the partnership 
framework previously agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board.

Page 59

Agenda Item 9



4. Considerable work has been necessary between agencies to develop and 
publish Gloucestershire’s child safeguarding arrangements in order to meet 
the requirements of Working Together 2018.  The completion of this 
development work now provides the space and capacity to progress the 
partnership framework previously agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board 
in July 2018.  It further provides the opportunity to link the next steps with the 
Child Friendly Gloucestershire work that has been progressing over recent 
months under the auspices of the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner (OPCC).

5. The Partnership Framework identified a number of essential components to 
enable partners to progress a shared vision for all children and young people 
in Gloucestershire.  These are set out below accompanied in each case by 
some brief commentary which aims to explore with the Health and Wellbeing 
Board how we might begin to operationalise the process:

 An Ambition and Guiding Principles: This implies an appetite for the 
development of a single, strategic shared plan/vision for all children and 
young people in Gloucestershire.  This would encompass all children and 
young people from 0 to 18 yrs and for some groups, such as young people 
with additional needs or care leavers, up to the age of 25 yrs.  
Notwithstanding the continuing responsibilities under Section 10, there is no 
longer a statutory requirement for localities to have a ‘children’s plan’; 
however, high performing areas such as Leeds and North Yorkshire, for 
example, tend to have a shared aspirational vision in place.  A consistent 
feature of those plans is a commitment to a small number of overarching 
priorities that resonate strongly across the whole system or locality, supported 
by a firm grip on the activity necessary to improve outcomes.

 System Wide Partners: The previous county wide plan ‘Gloucestershire –
works well for families - Gloucestershire’s Early Help and Children and Young 
People’s Partnerships Plan 2015 – 18’ was supported by a multi-agency 
children’s partnership.  The group has not met for some time and when active 
does not appear to have been particularly effective. Their work was not 
helped perhaps by a plan that lacked clarity and tended to focus on a narrow 
range of preoccupations for children’s social care rather than a whole system 
or county approach.  With the Health and Wellbeing Board providing strategic 
direction, within the context of a single vison for Gloucestershire, the 
partnership could be redefined as more of a steering group (or engine room) 
that coalesces and mobilises the full spectrum of activity for children in 
support of a shared, highly aspirational county wide vision for all children and 
young people mandated by the Health and Wellbeing Board.  The 
development of the Children’s Services Improvement Plan ‘Building the Best’, 
which is overseen by an Improvement Board, and the recently established 
Working Together 2018 arrangements, together  provide a further bulwark 
against this workstream becoming preoccupied with social care practice or 
child safeguarding. 

Page 60



 Priorities and work streams: Taken together Securing the Health of our 
Future (2016/17) and the Children Young People and Families Needs 
Assessment (2018) provide a solid evidence base for the development of 
priorities and actions that seek to secure positive and meaningful change. A 
further input will be to complete an assessment of the progress or learning 
from the previous plan ‘Gloucestershire – works well for families - 
Gloucestershire’s Early Help and Children and Young People’s Partnerships 
Plan 2015 – 18’.  Integrating and listening to the views of children and young 
people will also be an important element.3

 Outcomes and Indicators: An important aspect of the work to develop a 
future vision will be to make sense of the plethora of plans and strategies for 
children and young people (statutory and non statutory) already in place in 
order to provide a meta-analysis and narrative of current effectiveness and 
provide a road map for future service development.  Many of the plans and 
strategies in this space will necessarily focus on particular themes or cohorts 
of young people with the risk that, in the absence of an overarching process 
that tests gaps, overlaps and potential dissonance, the overall system 
effectiveness is diminished.  As a consequence, the whole becomes much 
less than the sum of its parts with all that implies for outcomes for children 
and young people.

6. The views of children and young people will be crucial to this process.  
Childrens lives today are much different from those of children as recently as 
10 years ago.  The rapid emergence and proliferation of digital technology 
and social media platforms have led to sub cultures and crowd cultures 
emerging in digital spaces that are largely ungoverned by traditional means.  
This social discourse/interaction takes place via streaming on YouTube or 
more traditional (sic) social media platforms such as Facebook, Twitter, 
Snapchat, Instagram, and WhatsApp. Within such spaces, children and young 
people regularly negotiate virtual deals around digital commodities, real world 
deals for goods and services on eBay and Depop or join WhatsApp Gen Z, 
environmental pressure groups set up by young activists.   

7. The implications of these changes for children and young people’s lived 
experience; their engagement with the development of services and how they 
access services are profound. The proposals being brought forward via the 
Child Friendly Gloucestershire Project provide an exciting opportunity for the 
development of a plan for all children and young people to be informed by a 
rich and ongoing conversation around what it feels like to grow up in 
Gloucestershire in the twenty first century.  It will be important therefore for 
any group mandated by the Health and Wellbeing Board to progress the 
development of shared vison/plan to explore how a worskstream that will be 
heavily influenced by the preoccupations of agencies can be meaningfully 
informed by the lived experience and insight of children and young people in 
Gloucestershire, with Child Friendly Gloucestershire acting as a potential 
interlocutor.4

8. The development of a plan for children and young people in Gloucestershire 

Page 61



is neither a statutory requirement nor a silver bullet for the wide range of 
challenges we face. It can however provide a mechanism to make sense of a 
hugely complicated, diverse and, in some aspects, atomised operating 
landscape with the aim of maximising outcomes for all children and young 
people in Gloucestershire, with a particular focus on the most vulnerable.  The 
proposals set out below are intended to explore the collective appetite 
towards moving on from the Children, Young People and Families Partnership 
Framework as a statement of intent, agreed by Health and Wellbeing Board in 
July 2018.

Recommendations to Board:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to approve the convening of a 
Panel in order to:

1. review progress with the ‘Gloucestershire – works well for families - 
Gloucestershire’s Early Help and Children and young People’s Partnerships 
Plan 2015 – 18’ and undertake a stocktake of plans and strategies for children 
already in place;

2. propose a set of shared priorities and actions for consideration by the 
Health and Wellbeing Board as the basis for wider consultation and 
development of a single strategic plan: and,
 
3. work with Child Friendly Gloucestershire Group to explore how the 
lived experience of children and young can support this work in both the 
development and delivery phases. 

Financial /Resource Implications:

There are no direct financial implications arising from this report.

1. Statutory guidance on the roles and responsibilities of the Director of Childrens 
Services and Lead Members for Children’s Services (Department for Education) 2013.
2. Working Together to Safeguard Children (HM Government) 2018.
3. Joining up the dots: Ofsted (2015)
4. Growing Up North (2018)

Page 62



Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

 
 
Report Title 
 

 
Child Friendly Gloucestershire Proposal 

Item for 
decision or 
information? 
 

 
Information and decision 

Sponsor 
 

Martin Surl, Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) 

Author 
 

Dame Janet Trotter 
Nigel Hatten, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner 
(OPCC) 

Organisation 
 

OPCC and partners 

Key Issues:   
To deliver this proposal it will be important to be able to be able to answer the 
question: ‘What does a good childhood mean to young people growing up in 
Gloucestershire?’ The Child Friendly Steering Group has looked at how key 
people and existing structures in the county could work together to develop a 
Gloucestershire that is inclusive for all children.  
 
This proposal paper outlines the work undertaken and discusses and identifies 
the next steps. 
 
Recommendations to Board:  
The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board is invited to:- 
 
1. Comment on the outline of the proposal and its three main elements. 
 
2. Accept, with any amendments suggested, that the Gloucestershire 
Health and Wellbeing Board jointly oversees the work of the Child Friendly 
Project Group together with the OPCC. 
 
3. Agree that reporting takes place by the Project Group to the Board on a 
regular basis (4 times a year?) 
 
4. Note that it is not being asked directly for resources at this point but 
that a report will be produced in 2020 setting out the development of the 
project to date and proposing next steps, together with resource implications. 
 
Financial/Resource Implications:  
 
 
None at present.  
 

 
 
 

Page 63



 
Child Friendly Gloucestershire Proposal 

 
 
1. Introduction 
1.1 The purpose of this paper is:-  
 

a. To introduce the Child Friendly Project to the Board 
b. To consider the Project’s future direction and scope 
c. To accept that, in terms of governance, the Project reports directly to the 

Board and to the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner (OPCC) 
d. To consider resourcing issues immediately and in the longer term 

 
1.2 In 2017/18 the Police and Crime Commissioner was introduced to the Leeds 

Child Friendly initiative which is rooted in the United Nation’s work on 
children’s Human Rights. His interest was encapsulated in the question ‘What 
does a good childhood mean to young people growing up in Gloucestershire?’  
It was evident that vulnerable young people are increasingly well supported, 
for example via the Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) work, but what of 
the experience of all young people? Could services be improved and better 
co-ordinated and could the contribution of the third sector be more fully 
recognised and supported? 

 
1.3 In October 2018 the Police and Crime Commissioner (PCC) set up a Child     

Friendly Steering Group. Its aim was to look at how key people and existing 
structures in the county could work together to develop a Gloucestershire that 
was inclusive for all children. The Steering Group would look to develop a 
culture change drawing in statutory and voluntary agencies concerned with 
young people and their well-being. Its membership comprised:- 

 
 Martin Surl, Police and Crime Commissioner  
 Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health 
 Dame Janet Trotter DBE, Educationalist and previous Lord-Lieutenant 

of Gloucestershire 
 Vice-Marshal Sir Dusty Miller, Warden of Honourable Company of 

Gloucestershire 
 Helen Lovatt, Deputy Warden: Honourable Company of 

Gloucestershire 
 David Owen, Chief Executive GFirst LEP (Local Enterprise 

Partnership) 

Page 64



 Alan Johnson, Headteacher Newent Community School 
 Bishop Rachel Treweek,  Bishop of Gloucester 
 Chris Spencer, Director of Children’s Services, Gloucestershire County 

Council 
 Imran Atcha, Youth worker Friendship Café/City Farm 
 Tracy Clark, Chief Executive, Young Gloucestershire/Infobuzz 
 Rod Hansen, Chief Constable Gloucestershire Constabulary 
 Julian Moss, Assistant Chief Constable Gloucestershire Constabulary 

  
1.4 The Steering Group met on four occasions and produced 3 Position Papers. It 

concluded:- 
 Gloucestershire should not adopt the Leeds Child Friendly model given 

that the way the county operates is significantly different to a 
metropolitan area. 

 
 The county has a good data base regarding school pupils which has 

been developed over many years via the On-Line Pupil Survey. 
However, this does not cover the 0-25 age range and is derived 
primarily from formal settings. 

 
 There is no specific and unified strategy related to this age range. 

 
 Diverse groups of young people appear not to be drawn into policy-

making debates which affect them and their future – they are not 
engaged. 

 
 There are many groups and organisations in the county, many of which 

are in the Third Sector, which have the concerns of young people in 
their remit. These often lack co-ordination and the authentic voices of 
young people are not systematically fed into their agendas. 

 
 Nevertheless, another strategic group should not be created but there 

is a need to co-create with key bodies in the county a young person’s 
strategy: this should be achieved over time with the involvement of 
young people. The more pressing need, however, is to garner and 
understand the ‘diverse voices’ and experiences of young people in the 
county and to feed the findings into the work of other strategic groups. 

 
 To maximise the impact of this engagement work a platform should be 

developed and employ modern communication techniques. It could be 
used by organisations involved with young people in order to keep in 
touch and include stories about young people and generated by them: 
most importantly it should be designed to be a voice for young people. 

 
 
 
 

Page 65



1.5 The Steering Group agreed the following diagrammatic representation of the 
above (clarified since the last meeting). 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



2. The current position 
2.1 Arising from the above the proposal is that, going forward, three pieces of 

work constitute the agenda of the Child Friendly Project. 
 

i. Research-based activity which seeks to engage with as many different 
young people as possible in a variety of settings. We are currently in the 
process of engaging the University of Gloucestershire in a piece of 
research designed to establish a variety of techniques for engaging young 
people and hearing their stories. Alongside this students and county 
ambassadors will be trained to interact with young people purposefully to 
add to the data base.  Other organisations will also be engaged in this 
work of data collection. The findings will be used to inform the work of 
some of the strategic groups in the county as outlined above in 1.5. 

 
ii. The University of Gloucestershire has been commissioned to develop a 

platform to include naming and appropriate LOGO which can be used to 
collect information, engage with people across the county and disseminate 
a range of matters. It is the intention that young people will be involved in 
the development of the site and will create stories and videos which can 
showcase their work, their ambitions and their experiences. It will also be 
important for outcomes of the suggestions of young people to be fed back 
to them systematically via this medium. 

 
iii. In the longer term it is anticipated that a county strategy for young people 

will be co-created. 
 
2.1 A launch event will be held at a date in the future to inform everyone officially 

of this aspirational work. 
 
3. Governance 
3.1 The initial Steering Group has reported to the PCC. 
 
3.2 The emerging Project, however, has a county-wide focus and requires the 

goodwill and collaboration of county bodies and voluntary organisations for 
the outcomes to have maximum benefit and impact. 

 
3.3 In relation to governance, therefore, the proposal is for the Project to report 

regularly (4 times a year?) to the OPCC and to the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Board. This will primarily be through briefing papers. 

 
4. Resources 
4.1 Few resources have been expended on getting the Project to this stage. 
 
4.2 The Chair has given her time to the project on a voluntary basis, together with 

any travelling expenses. This will continue to be the case whatever 
involvement she has. 

 

Page 67



4.3 Nigel Hatten has also contributed over and above his employed hours and 
some OPCC administrative resources have been used. 

 
4.4 Going forward the OPCC has kindly agreed to fund the research and 

engagement work and to support the development of the platform. 
 
4.5 It is important that an expensive industry does not develop around this activity 

if it is to be sustainable so it is proposed that the project proceeds with no 
further significant resources at the moment. A clearer assessment will then be 
made with regard to taking the work forward and in what form. It should be 
possible to fundraise for parts of the work and the Chair is willing to explore 
this option and come forward with proposals in due course. 

 
5. Continuing life of the project 
5.1 Young people’s attitudes are shaped by the world they inhabit. It is clear that 

the world is increasingly complex and dynamic. This is not, therefore, a piece 
of work which is a one-off. The intention is that new ways of engaging with 
young people will become the norm and will be embedded in the way the 
county works. Additionally, a position will have been developed regarding the 
development of a strategy. A platform to assist communication will, 
nevertheless, have continuing use and could be managed by the County 
Council or some other county body. 

 
5.2  The proposal is for a Position Paper to be written in 2020 setting out next 

steps and the resources required in relation to the three key aspects. 
 
6. Recommendations 

The Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board is invited to:- 
 

1. Comment on the outline of the proposal and its three main elements. 
 

2. Accept, with any amendments suggested, that the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Board jointly oversees the work of the Child Friendly Project 
Group together with the OPCC. 

 
3. Agree that reporting takes place by the Project Group to the Board on a 

regular basis (4 times a year?) 
 

4. Note that it is not being asked directly for resources at this point but that a 
report will be produced in 2020 setting out the development of the project 
to date and proposing next steps, together with resource implications. 

 
 
 
 
Report authors: Dame Janet Trotter  

                 Nigel Hatten, Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner  
 

Page 68



1

Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board

Report Title Health and Wellbeing Board Membership Review

Item for 
decision or 
information?

Decision and information

Sponsor Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health

Author Sarah Scott, Director of Public Health
Zoe Clifford, Consultant in Public Health

Organisation Gloucestershire County Council

Key Issues:  
The current Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board consists of nineteen 
members. With the development of the new Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, it is 
timely to consider review the membership of the Board to ensure it is best placed to 
deliver the priorities. 
Recommendations to Board: 

1. Review the paper.
2. Discuss and make a decision on each of the suggestion under section 3 of the 

paper.  
Financial/Resource Implications: 

None identified

Page 69

Agenda Item 10



2

Health and Wellbeing Board Membership Review

1. Purpose
The purpose of this paper is to inform the discussions about reviewing the Health and 
Wellbeing Board membership. 

There is a balance to be found between the sized of the membership and having the right 
membership to progress on the priorities the Board has identified. The Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) steering group have had initial discussions about a proposed 
HWB membership and this paper reflects those discussions. 

2. Current membership
There is a statutory duty to include a particular core membership on a Health and Wellbeing 
Board (see appendix 1). 

The current Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board membership extends beyond the 
statutory requirements and has 19 members. As set out in the April 2018 Terms of 
Reference, comprises of:

 Chair of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire
 Additional Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire member
 Accountable Officer of Clinical Commissioning Gloucestershire 
 A District Council elected representative from Leadership Gloucestershire
 Four County Councillors, as appointed by the Leader of the County Council
 The Director of Adult Social Services, Gloucestershire County Council
 The Director of Children’s Services, Gloucestershire County Council
 Police and Crime Commissioner
 The Director of Public Health, Gloucestershire County Council
 A representative of the local Healthwatch 
 A representative of the NHS Commissioning Board Local Area Team
 A District Council Chief Officer and link for housing related business
 Chair of Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust
 Chair of 2gether NHS Foundation Trust
 Chair of Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
 Chief Constable of Gloucestershire
 Chief Fire Officer for Gloucestershire

See appendix 2 for further details. 

The Cabinet Suite, where the Health and Wellbeing Board is currently held, could 
comfortably accommodate 23 members.  

3. Discussion points
The following are areas for discussion to consider how the Health and Wellbeing Board 
membership could be developed.

3.1 District Councils
The current membership includes a district council chief officer. There are some excellent 
examples of how this has managed to represent the views of the other districts. However, as 
our systems are moving towards much more place based working, it may be timely to 
consider if the district council chief officer representation is extended. 

Page 70



3

3.2 Voluntary and community sector
This sector is currently not represented on the Board. The voluntary and community sector 
have been involved in forming the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and are key to the 
delivery of it. The VCSE Alliance works to strengthen the collaboration of this sector. 
Representation from the VCSE Alliance on the Health and Wellbeing Board would 
strengthen the links. 

3.3 Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP)
Economic development is included in the new Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy as an 
area that the Board wanted to keep a watching brief over. At the same time as the 
development of the Board’s strategy, the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) is also under 
development. This is an ideal opportunity for closer working, identifying the links clearly 
between economic growth, health and wellbeing. GFirst LEP is led by the business 
community, partnership with voluntary, education and public sectors, to help Gloucestershire 
realise its economic potential. A representative from the LEP on the Health and Wellbeing 
Board would enable closer working. 

3.4 Primary Care
The additional Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) representative currently on the Board 
could be changed to a representative for primary care. This would make a clearer link with 
the primary care agenda. 

3.5 Chairs or Chief Executives of health and care organisations
The membership currently consists of Chairs from the main health and care organisations. 
Equally Chief Executives of these organisations could be a representative on the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. This could be the decision of the organisation but with only one space on 
the Health and Wellbeing Board per organisation. 

3.6 NHS England
Whilst there is NHSE representation on the Health and Wellbeing Board, they have not 
attended for several years. Appendix 3 sets out the section in the Health and Care Act 2012 
which relates to NHSE and their relationship with Health and Wellbeing Boards. Partly, this 
sets out that they have a role when the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) or 
strategy is under development. 

------ End -----

Page 71



4

Appendix 1: Health and Social Care Act 2012
The Health and Social Care Act states the following in regards to membership of Health and 
Wellbeing Boards:

The Health and Wellbeing Board is to consist of—
(a)subject to subsection (4), at least one councillor of the local authority, nominated in 
accordance with subsection (3),
(b)the director of adult social services for the local authority,
(c)the director of children's services for the local authority,
(d)the director of public health for the local authority,
(e)a representative of the Local Healthwatch organisation for the area of the local authority,
(f)a representative of each relevant clinical commissioning group, and
(g)such other persons, or representatives of such other persons, as the local authority thinks 
appropriate.

Appendix 2: Details of the membership included in the Terms of Reference
Notes on the membership include: 

 Political proportionality will not be applied
 Voting – Individual members of the Board shall be non-voting. Instead each member 

organisation or group of organisations will have one vote. The nominee of each 
organisation must be present to vote. There will be no absence voting provision. The 
Chair will have the casting vote.

 Voting organisations are:
 Gloucestershire Clinical Commissioning Group, Gloucestershire Care 

Services NHS   Trust, Gloucestershire Hospitals NHS Foundations Trust and 
2gether NHS Foundation Trust

 Gloucestershire County Council
 HealthWatch
 District Councils (one vote for all six)
 NHS England
 PCC and Gloucestershire Constabulary

 For the purpose of enabling it to carry out its functions the Health and Wellbeing 
Board may request the Council, the Local Healthwatch, the Clinical Commissioning 
Group or other member of the Board to supply it with information specified in the 
request.

 Terms of Office – Each term of office will run for the term of the County Council 
unless a member organisation advises otherwise. 

 Substitutions: There will be no substitutions, if an organisation is unable to send its 
representative a named substitute may be nominated for that meeting only.   Notice 
of this shall be given by the absent Board member to the committee administrator in 
advance of the meeting.  Ideally a week’s notice shall be given to allow all Board 
members to be advised of the substitution. Procedural Standing Order 28 shall not 
apply.

 Quorum: The quorum for meetings of the Health and Wellbeing Board is that one 
quarter of the membership be present and at least 4 be voting member 
organisations.

Page 72



5

Appendix 3: Section relating to NHSE in the Health and Care Act
Section 197 of the Health and Care Act: Participation of NHS Commissioning Board
(1)Subsection (2) applies where a Health and Wellbeing Board is (by virtue of section 
196(1)) preparing—

(a)an assessment of relevant needs under section 116 of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, or
(b)a strategy under section 116A of that Act.

(2)The National Health Service Commissioning Board must appoint a representative to join 
the Health and Wellbeing Board for the purpose of participating in its preparation of the 
assessment or (as the case may be) the strategy.

(3)Subsection (4) applies where a Health and Wellbeing Board is considering a matter that 
relates to the exercise or proposed exercise of the commissioning functions of the National 
Health Service Commissioning Board in relation to the area of the authority that established 
the Health and Wellbeing Board.

(4)If the Health and Wellbeing Board so requests, the National Health Service 
Commissioning Board must appoint a representative to join the Health and Wellbeing Board 
for the purpose of participating in its consideration of the matter.

(5)The person appointed under subsection (2) or (4) may, with the agreement of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board, be a person who is not a member or employee of the National Health 
Service Commissioning Board.

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the previous meeting
	6 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
	GCC_2596 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy_Dev5

	7 One Gloucestershire Way
	8 Safer Gloucestershire Community Safety Strategy 2019 - 2022
	Safer Gloucestershire Strategy (master)
	Safer Gloucestershire Strategy Action Plan v2

	9 Children's Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Child Friendly Gloucestershire Proposal
	Child Friendly Gloucestershire Proposal
	Child Friendly Front Page
	Child Friendly Proposal Stakeholder Briefing  February 2019 Briefing


	10 Health and Wellbeing Board Membership

